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Strategic
Report

The Directors present their Strategic Report and audited consolidated Financial
Statements of Tandem Money Limited (‘the Group’ or ‘Tandem’) for the year ended
31stDecember 2022. The Group accounts incorporate the results of Tandem Money
Limited ('TML' or ‘the Company') and its subsidiaries. See Note 18 foralist of
subsidiaries. The registered office for each entity is Hogarth House, 136 High Holborn,
London, WC1V 6PX.

The Strategic Report may include forward-looking statements. which are based on
assJmptions. expectations. valuations, targets. estimates. forecasts and projections
about future events. These forward-looking statements are subject tori
uncertainties and assumptions about the Group and the environmentin

operates.

These statements are made by the Directors in good faith based on the information
avalable up to the time of their approval of this report and such siatements should be
corsidered with caution due to the inharent uncertainties underlying any
fonvard-looking information.

About

tandem

Banking for a greener future.

To hit the Government’s 2050 Net Zero goals, 29 million UK
homes need to be retrofitted and 23 million UK electric vehicles
will be required on our roads. This equates to £20 billion of

borrowing for UK consumers.

Tandem continues to embed itself
into the UK's consumer digital
infrastructure. These networks host
millions of consumer purchases daily
via hundreds of thousands of
retailers, mortgage advisors, brokers,
platforms, price comparison
websites and car dealerships.

As agreener, digital bank Tandemis
well positionedto help UK

households transition to a lower
carbon lifestyle by offering easier
ways to save, borrow, and spend a
little bit greener via Tandem
Marketplace.

Tandemis now the fourth fastest
growing digital banking application
across Europe, supporting our
mission 'to make it easier for people
tochoose a greener lifestyle’.
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Paul Pester

Chair
Statement

RY AR

Creating a strong platform for future
growth, 2022 has been a year of transition

forTandem.

Thecombination of theheritage Tandem
business, the embedded finance provider
Aflium and the consumer lender Oplo,

The price and supply shocks witnessed with
high carbon fuels through 2022, acted to
spurmore mainstream consumers to

provided all the components yto
create aprofitable, resilient and growing
business. Throughout 2022, the Executive
teamand Board have worked hard to mould
together these components around a
coherent, purpose-ledstrategy, of helping
mainstream consumers transitionto alower
carbonlifestyle.

Aswe enter 2023 I'm pleased to say the new
Tandemis well established, operatingundera
common brand and cne common purpose.
Tandemisied by a strong, experienced
Executive team.

ir { and transition to low carbon
alternatives - such as high efficiency boilers,
solar panels and heat pumps - savingmoney
inthe process, whilst enabling themto do
their bit for the environment. The macro
trends continued to drive the growth of these
markets inwhich Tandemis such akey player.

Rising baserates through 2022 also threw
into starkrelief the benefits to consumers of
choosing the best home for their savings,
with many of the big banks failing to pass-on
interest rateincreases to their savings
customers. Tandem's focus onproviding
easy to access, straightforward, well priced
savings products continued toreceive praise
fromcommentators during the yearand
continued to attract depositors with retail
deposits standing at £1.8bn as of yearend.

Innovations such as Tandem's “Top up Rate”
onitsinstant access savings account, will
continue to enable Tandem to attract and
retain a growing saver base, who will, through
2023, becomeincreasingly aware of the key
role they play in helping Tandem to support
mainstream consumers transition to alower
carbonlifestyle.

Whilst 2022 has been a year of transition for
Tandemasawhole, it has also been ayear of
transition for the Executive team. Iwas
delighted to welcome Alex Mollart into the
CEO rolein early October 2022, Wahid Ali
into the CRO rolein early December 2022
and David McCarthyinto the CFO rolein early
January 2023. I'diike to take this opportunity
tothank all of them, theirpredecessors and
the whole Tandem team for their hard work
and contribution to creating the new
Tandem.

Paul Pester
Chalr

“I'MPLEASED TO

SAY THE NEW
TANDEM IS WELL
ESTABLISHED”
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Alex Mollart

CEO
Statement

Throughout 2022 Tandem has
made significant progress on
itsmission. The transition to
low carboneconomyis
underway and coupled with
the cost of living crisis,
consumers are transitioning
to more affordable and
sustainable solutions for their
homes, their transport and
theirlifestyles.

Banking for a greener future

Thegreentransition is an enormous
opportunity for Tandemto support
consumers across the UK, retrofit their
homes, change their transport and adapt
therr lifestyles. As aleading digital bank we
areuniquely embeddedin the UK's digital
infrastructure and are connecting consumers
to education, information, green retailers and
funding through our app based interface,
making the complex, simple and green
choices easy from the familiarity of your
phone.

2022 Highlights

in 2022 Tandem completed a significant
re-brand of the Group with a fresh new look
thataligns to our strapline "Banking fora
greener future” and the launch of Tandem

Marketplace, our first step in making greener
choices easy.

Whilst themacro-environment changed
significantly in the second half of the year,
the Group has grownits originations by 70%
to £712manditsloan book by 175% to £1.2bn
with 68% of the Group'sioanbook by unit
{23% by £value) being reported as green.
This growth has seen Tandem achieve
underlying operating profit of £4.5m for the
frst timeinits history ard hasa clear path to
delivering ongoing sustainable profitability
and, importantly, capital accretion.

Save alittle bit greener

Tandemhas expandedits retail deposit
franchise, building onits established Instant
Access Savings Account (IASA) and adding
various Fixed Term Deposit (FTD) products,
both of which are accessed via our award
winning app.

The Groupincreasedits retail deposits to
£1.75bn (being an uplift of 128%) across over
60,000 customers, and also enteredinto a
partnership with Raisintobroadenits
acquisition channels.

Tandem will continue to enhance its deposit
proposition by improving functionality,
product features and overall customer
experience.

Borrow alittle bit greener

During 2022 Tandem funded £238min green
lending throughits Home Improvement
business, funding instaliations across solar,
battery, air /heat pumps and energy efficient
windows and boilers.

In addition, the business launched a new EPC
discount mortgage product to reward
consumers forupgrading their home energy
efficiency andanew emissions discount
Motor Finance product to reward drivers who
choose low-emission or EV vehicles.

Spend alittle bit greener

Towards the end of 2022, Tandem launched
the UK's first greener marketplace
(www.tandem.co.uk/marketplace). The site
helps consumers understand how sustainable
their homes, transport andlifestyles are, and
ultimately access suitable financing solutions.

The betaversionlaunchedin 2023 enables
consumers to access their EPC's and
establish the CO2 emissionievel resulting
fromtheir lifestyle. Several of Tandem's
retailer partners have joined the marketplace
tooffer products directly.

Looking ahead

2022has been a transformational year for
Tandem against the backdrop of a difficult
macro-environment, and | would personally
like to thank both our incredible people for
theirhard work, and our shareholders

for their steadfast support.

Aswe move into 2023, we are embracingan
exciting delivery roadmap, whilst building a
profitable and sustainable business that will
help consumers transition tolower carbon
lifestyles.

Alex Mollart
Chief Executive Officer - Designate

#2022 SAW THE COMPLETED
ACQUISITION OF OPLO. WE
REDEFINED OUR MISSION,

RE-BRANDED 3 BUSINESSES INTO
‘ONE BANK’ AND ACHIEVED
UNDERLYING PROFITABILITY”
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Financial
Review

David McCarthy
Chief I'irarcial Of* cer

lam pleased toreport on a year of considerable progress for Tandem.
2022 marked the first inancial year in which the Group has reported
anunderlying operating profit. This was enabled by the acquisition -
and integration of Oplo which has created a profitable entity from day
1(atunderlying operating profit level) and has increased the size of the
balance sheet considerably. Tandem’s shareholders have supported
it with new capital of £188m which has provided the resources to
maintain a strong rate of growthinits assets and thereby;, its net
interestincome.

This financialreview includes underlying as well as statutory measures
of performance. A breakdown of underlying profit has beenincluded
to illustrate the Group's performance with non-recuring items
excluded.

Key performance indicators

Key per

and balance sheet strength,

Profitability

Underiying apesa

£4.5m

{FY21:£18.2m o83)

Netterest maign

8.36%

(FY21:3.605%%6)

T P forthe
year of £4.5mwhichrepresents a substantial

Statutoryioss before tax

£12.4nm

{FY21:£19.6mi083)

Costioassets

d revi ility, growth

Lostto.ncome

- 80.8%

FY21:201.3%)

Impairment rat:o

1.92%

Thecost t

overthe year. Th

£18.2m. Th el the heet (1519 i
i the Op! 24 year ony i i
January. £107.3m of goodwill was generated uponthis expenses(93% year onyear). Most of the increasein
i being i of i i tothe Oplo
statement over 10 years. i l: i
increases agsoclated with the general level of infiation.
o
i Isation. the charas for th h Th
he: " i o by d i o " ed by
£7.2myearonyesr. 1.51ppyear onyear. Most of this increase was aboutloan
Opl

Netinterast margin (calculated this year as net interest

asset mix si hy

y ts torefiect the lending to
{ .76pp over Whilst typlcally higher ylelding, these assets also tend to
theyear. Thigis attri [ dditi i expected credit

of the O i
yleld thanmost of the legacy Tandem portfollo.

Growth

Growin AcLstemes

182%

(FY21.96%)

Growt n-0sns

175%

(FY21: 1%}

q g
losses.

Grawin nceoos is

1284

(Y21 5698

2022was ayearof

of Oplo. Thei

total to over 60k.
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Balance sheet strength
i i
ABirare I s ; \fw«mmmm
i
5 i
158 2% A8B% || 8.5
e By | oy wmy j el oy
i + i ,
Our the C Tier} ETN)endedtheyearina
strong positl y £188m of equity theyear. itwas further

the yearend

TheLiquidity C CR) s ourliquidity strength. T yearwitha
ratioof 465% 100%. This strong
p's i
Asa P im tocover our' 6ts fully with d its. This targ
i he end of the year.
Financialreview L] gefor 1£1.3m
has i itinthe

The summarised Income Statement for the sincelt
Group is shown on an underlying basis as well quity imali v P

. situation of the Group.
asin statutory format where the former aims N i of
to provide a clearer view of Tandem's trading £3 Isob

versgion, Thy

performance. The differences between the
twoare as follows:

Y
theintegrationof the Oplo business.

FY22(£k) FY21(£X)

«nmmhm ! CL i um e

Adjustments between statutory

and underlying results

mmmam : mm now . i um uns ;
mnmmnmmadwmm (w,zos) (uus) co (3,274) : (3274)

PwMI(Lon)lﬂwln ar (19409) o (19.409)

The principal movements in the Income
Statement year onyear were as follows:

Netinterestincome

NetInterestIncome grew substantially from £15.0m to
the year largely f

Oole

he g |level of y

Provision for bad and doubtful debts

Credit:

of measures thatmay ly impa
i h inflation. Tandem
toapply

creditrisk sl i ind aims t

hold suthicient provisions to protect the business.

Atotalof £30.2m has been set aside onthe balance
sheet for bad and doubtful debts up from £5.8minthe
prior yeer. This has resuitedina charge through the

also contributed to NIl growth:

W £350mof second charge mortgages were

f £15.7m (FY21: £1.7m). Thisincludes
post model adjustments of £0.7m held against the
potential impactof cost of living pressures.

originated (FY2): nll)taking the book to £585m Other ChBIQES
{FY21; nil}
L Tand! 094!
. Thisincludes
markelin February 2022 ofginating £80m of assots totaling E11.7m(FY21: £14m). Goodwill arose on
iy
W InAugust Tandemlaunched its first specialist scquisilionof Oplo and Alfum.
mortgage product
B TheHo L u Taxation
increased originations to £238m (FY2¥: £136m) A2
taking the book to £272m (FY21: £150m). At deh”‘;"' "

year-and HiL loans represented 683 of
Tandem’s lending by number of units

@ Motor Finance was re-launched in2022 with
originations totalling £11m (FY2}: £0.3m) taking
the book size 10£18.3m (FY21: £9.3m)

theyearto£1.75bn
(FVZ) £77m). Ouslomers have been muscled b/ oul
simple, b:

Administrative expenses

55.5m from
£28.9min the prioryear. The acqu!sluonof Oplo explal ns
mostof

improving substantlally to 81% (FY21: 2019).

During lhe yeaﬂar\demlnvesled inhiring and
i digital, data

and Wealmto
those invastments In later years evident in further
improvements inthe cost: Income ratio.

to
whichare expected tobeutitised in the near future. IMs
isthe first year ferred tax asset

asaresultofthe y that

near future.
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Busin?ss
Reviews

First Charge
Mortgages

Introduction Distributi 1a key focus for thy in2022.
i i arobust i
{ i i ight of
approved partners tobe conducted inline with
Tandem'’s policies and procedures.

Tandem Pt i
February 2022 and expanded into the specialist
i inAugust. Te

products across the specialist residential and bespoke
1S accessed through A

Following the successful s
acquisitions of Oplo and Allium s amarorie

Tandem worked diligently throughout 2022 to ensure Tat:de!n‘s.wrlo!e ol majket"dzsmbulion. g{oduct range

respectively, Tandem has oy S
established anintegrated ‘a"f’;mzp::":’f:::::f,:::f":;;:3;,:":9'_”""“?.
consumer lending platform e ~
which enables customers to P R
make greener financial choices ' B
for theirhome and everyday

living.
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Second Charge
- Mortgages

introduction shaped Tandem's offering and enabled Tandem to help
isfy their ing needs.
9 Hors o tothedata d
tange of ial second for engine, coupl ithTandem': 1 insight,
Including b  dabt enabled the Group to price almostinreal-tme. This
nd hiah. agility provided a competitive advantage and was
e particularly important during the market volatliity
Yandem s leader in hatf of 2022.
second chargemarket.
Outlook
Customer
issettobenefit i
" 10 during 202: locked inalower
ypl product res rstcharge toaccess
range through Tandem' P than
directly through the website.
ly todirect
customer

Home Improvement

Lending

Introduction Outlook

Tandem's Home Improvement business unit provides Manyof Tandem i the
ns ha network iaries, for gy y ies and, given theUK's focus
fi inthisgrea,’ a i for

home improvement market. sofar, gy i

Customer

Tands i all

Group to react quickly with regard to specialist

less agil Withits in

Itselfi ions. Tl

if vii inati bespoke
technology and a highlevel of brand awareness and
educatlonintothe market.

(through energy efficient windows and doors).

Tandem fuily d inug and the

playits pa
future. i to

p i into
their property, Tandem expects the loan performance to
remain strong.
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Motor

ypi

promole fir
websites and subsaquenlly supportthe full cunomev
Journey, either online or at the PoS.

]
tnboth fully
inance ST

document signing solullon
Outlook
present UK

Introduction economic downtum typicaily benefit Motor Finance
prmndevs askeycompemors the direct lenders

Tandem's MotorF g their greater risk

o theUKto exposure.
finance
brokers and independent usad car dealers. The tack of new car supply overrecent years has
The focus through 2022 was to establishabrand new current: ivir £10-£12k
il toenter intof g ' perfectly aligned toTandem's

sale)marketin2023. proposition.

Customer Ongolr he FCA's Consumer
Duty further suppon Tandem's plans having been firmly

000 activ ini j and
“M""- 5 Tancd > without thelegacy issues faced by many of our
por oo rom competitors.
Th dl
place, y y 9 {and
buying journey lof

Savings

Introduction
The Savi fori istory ofthe
Group, witha small g Tnitialh

recruited tothe Harrods Bank offer, acohortof
customers atracted by Tandem's early "suto-save”

This web-based functionality will continue to be

Inparallel tothe app, to
ensure thect i i i s
bothchannels.
bmldmg direct relatlonsh(ps wlmdepos tors, landem
ctof cash

platforms and partnerships indelivering savings
solutions to customers. With this In. mmd andas parlci
the process to di the Bank'

partnership withRaisinwas established in2022,
successfully delivering material deposit volumes.

Outlook
The outlookwill refiect the higher interest rate

i itors. This Is
likely o returns for i

ild it balance: shiftout

proposition, and more recentty a [’ of
by Tand t »
pmpos«llon Thecurrent proposmon following the
Q2202,1s

attracting traditional, mainstream savers.

o b d by tha simple,
il saving: Tandem'’s

lASA and FTD products, withgrowth delivered whilst

building

Customer

The

customer-focused principles and insight fromthe
market. Fromresearchconducted inQ12022,in
provider
Savings Champion, Tandemgained insight thata
significant proportion of UK savers stillhave a
preference for web-based savings, rather than
‘app-based savings. Thus, to satisfy these requirements,

forFTD'sinMay 2022.

of current accounts. Further, higher rates will deliver
Increased returns for those savers with substantial

balances, potentialy iggering taximplications for a
greater ad1o

attractive thanin the racent past.

Aliof Tandem’s greener lending products are funded by
ouvcustomerdeposn.s We haveslscstaueddeveloplng

cleate apositive, measurable green impactbysaving
with Tandem beyond funding wrgreensv!endmg
to bring this i

tomarket in2023.

Inaddition, Tannem plans tolauncha CashISAand to

Y
exploting further partarships with thrd party providers
rt delivery of

plan.
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Technology

Digital, Data & Technology

During 2022 the Digital, Data and Technology
teams helped deliver the integration of three
legacy businesses.

There has been substantial progress made
on the app and Tandem's Marketplace, as
well as laying the foundations for our 'bestin
class’ origination platform for 2023.

Integration

Theintegration projectdelivered significant
progress through 2022, unifying control of
underpinninginfrastructure, end user
computing, office, cloud and, significant
migration to asingle tech platform.

Weare on track with our roadmap to be fully
integrated and optimise the digital
landscape by end of 2023.

InDecember 2022, we engaged in testing
'Connect’, abroker pontal and user interface
developed by our teamat Tandem. The
orignations platform used by ourlending
businesses will deliver speed, efficiency, and
value once it goes live in 2023.

App and Marketplace

inAugust 2022 we rebranded the Tandem
appand added new functionality and
products. It gave us a freshnew feel andin
December 2022 wouldlead to us winning
‘Best App-Based Savings Provider’ in the
Savings Champion 2023 awards.

InNovember 2022, we launched the Initial
phase of our Marketplace and created a
prototype for ournewimproved website that
letsus properly launch the next phase of
Marketplace and muchmore content on
Impact.

Organisation and Operations

In October 2022 we used the Connect Motor
Platform to enable integration to 8,000
motor dealers across the UK to really allow us
to compete with the rest of the market and
grow our Motor Finance franchise.

As we move into 2023, we have a solid
platform to build upon, underpinned by;

®  Astrongsingle Digital team organisedin
cross-functional squadswith
significantly more capacity and
capability to support Tandem’s
transformation journey

®  Significant progress on securing the
Group and a clear roadmap to keep
improving our defense Interms of both
depth and capabilities

u  Aclearvision onhow ourcustomers wilt
interact with Tandem across our app
and digltal channel

Central
Functions

With over 500 employees across five UK
offices, Tandemhas continued to make
smarti its to Integrate ities,
capture efficiencies and enhance the
Group's risk management. NewFinance and
HR systems were deployed throughout
2022, creating greater efficiencies internally.

Extemally, the rebrand of Tandemhasbeena

December 2022 also sawa new Cardiff
branch open, enabling considerable growth
inthe Group's Cardiff based teams and
aligning withits business strategy for future
growth. The design takesinspiration from
Tandem's Blackpool office, which was
awarded an ‘A’ energy rating certificatein
2022.Together with amission tobe a
greenerbank, all office interiors are based on

key focus, as well as a financial
programme successfully beingrolled out to
schools and colleges. The programme offers
free financial literacy education to 16 -18 year
olds, helping them to make better i d

four principles; touch, feel, space, andnature

- aswellas the wellbeingof Tandem

employees. Tandem believes this translates

tobetter customer care and to a sustainable,
clal pr i

financial decisions.

Throughout 2022, Tandem alsoinvested in
existing and new talent, helping to grow the
workforce and skillset. Employee
engagement toolswereintroduced tohelp
monitor, build and drive engagement levels
forward.
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Impactand
ESG Framework

Through our mission of banking for a greener
future, we aim to maket easler for customers
to be more sustainable and power the
transition to a low-carbon economy. At the
heart of thisis acknowledging that therising
cost of livingis preventing people from doing
more for the environment, despite the fact
thatwe need|olnt action to succeed.

Recognising the value of a comprehensive
approach, we have developed and launched
anlmpactstrategy to guide our efforts
across all material areas relevant to our
business and stakeholders. Through
collaboration with staff and extemnal experts,
we developed timebound targets to form the
backbone of everything we do to deliver
banking for a greener future.

To reach the UK's Net Zero by 2050 ambition,
among the many pillarsto address are the Tandem'sgoals are set out betow and we aim
clean energy and transpon transition as well to achleve each of themwithin thenext 5

as green home improvements. With this years.
21507 context Inmind, Tandem alms to provide

customers access to asuite of greener

lending products and services that address

those areas, while offering cost-saving

opportunities.

Mission
We're here to make it easier for more people to choose a gcreener lifetyle

Product Planet : People
We willbecome the leading greener bank We wifl regenerate nature and reach net zero carbon
emissions in our operations and value chain

We will nurture our employees and support our
ocal communities

Greener

products

We willensure at least
80% of ourloans by unit
are allocated to our
greener products

Partnering
forchange

We will ensure all our

retail partners have met -

the threshold of our
ESG Assessment

Zero
carbon

We will setnet-zeo and
near-term targets
validated by the
ience-Based Targets

Initiative ('SBTI")

Eliminate waste
in operations

. We willremoveall
unnecessary waste from
our operations and send

zerowaste tolardfll

_Great place
to work

We willbe one of the
‘UK's best placesto
work’

Community
engagement

We will support financial

literacy and inclusion of

100,000 people across
the UK




Although the Group has previously
undertaken initiatives to measure carbon
impact, this year we consolidated and
elevated our efforts to capture and
understand our emissions across all scopes,
setting a baseline for actionable targets. We
have carried out acomplete assessment and
setup processes for data collection so that
we can easily track our footprint as we work
towards zero carbon, Werealise the
Importance of reducing ourimpactinline
with climate science - that's why one of our
pricritiesin 2023 is submitting our targets to
the Science-Based Target Initiative ('SBT).
We reflect on these and other highlights in

ourinaugural ImpactReport to be launched in
2023.To ensure ourimpact Reportls
comprehensive, structured, transparent and
accessible to a variety of stakeholders, we
followed best practice guidance as provided
by GlobalReporting Initiative ('GRI') and
Sustainability Accounting Standards Board
{'SASB’). Inthe coming year, we willbe
developing our TCFD reporting, by
integrating climate risk more deeply into our
existing risk management processes and
conducting more detailed financial
modelling.

Sven Schindele
Managing Director

of Corgorate
Developmentand
it - ity i - = St impact
i
: f " i y " _
1 butwe also have signihcant progress to be proud of this year: i
. W Welaunched animpact and ESG C ing alig tothe I‘
Bank'swider strategy and long: o products, !

operations and our people;

P Criterie,

classify ‘greener’ tending p o

principles to define and

bank;

g our portfolio as agreenar {

u  Alour o

area

' potential )
; o

reduce, replace);

(10% financial

(10%

on providing education for customers.

i

i

3 &  Allproducts that achi 60% these
products; and

four

®  Bssed reener P iteria 68%

greenerlending. We wil share

further

Report’

[

LN
> 35k >97k

Customers making

Trees planted :
greener choices

>£288m

Greenhome
improvement lending

> 20k

Volunteering minutes

®
oyl

£44k 68%

% loans representing
greener products

A\ P
62 49,000t

CO2savedin 2022 through
financing of greener products

Charity donations

Employeesin Green Deal
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Tandem Bank:

Y 4

TCFD Summary Report 2022

Overview Strategy
This year: the n T
Clis 2! Ol FO) trategy, we undertook climate
for the first ime to gulde ourassessment and scenarlo modelling as recommended by the TCFDIn
of climate-related risks and January 2022. This is to provide a deeperunderstanding
TheTCF" for of therisks associated with climate change, whichwe
i Int npany's existing he asa this year.
for strateqy, i
matrcs & targets. ily follow Th s rarious potential
as part of our commitment tobeing a greaner bank. We afull i0s. The
Dbelleveit business i h
mayimpact our business. Thlasecllonpravidesa scale of. action, climat
summary hange and vo.Weare inth
our2022 TCFD Report. f ESGBI‘\d
and will be finalising these In 2023. We intend to achleve
Governance Scope 1, 2and 3 emissions by nolater than
2050, aligned with the Science-Based Targets Initiative
Tand

role
that ﬁnanclal instiwutions play|n the sustainable low

(SBTi). However, we believe wa canreach net-zero
Scopeland2(operational)emissions shead of this date.

tobeinga
greener bank. The Board overseas Tandem's
climate-related risks and opportunities, with the Chief

Wearein

thatargety Pl

operational net-zero by.

Executive Officer for

i The Board. d cli geasa h
ind Q12022. Further i

dol " g the

Board and management levels.

Tandem's Socialand
Cormi .

Tandem's of climat
oppartunities. They are supported in this by third party
spedalists who

i risk modelling for

TCFD.

The ive Risk i

y working with
meBGCommmeelcdevelnpmschmatscmngemsk
Identify, assess and mitigat

climate-related risks. They support the Board in
i controls.

B <2°Cby2100; highlevels of transition risks but
limited physical risks.

B 2-3°Cby2100; the highest level of transition
risks with some physical risks.

| >3°Cby2100; limited transitionrisks but the
highest level of physical risks.

Each i o
short(2022-2027), medium (2027-2037) and long-term
(2037-2052). These go beyond: usual buslness timelines
to allow for the long: hange,
Including the i X bo driven
by the UKgovemment's 2050 nat-zerotarget. However,
when cons«denng our responsa 10 the risks, we have

. These
aredivided intovery short term (12 months) and short
term(12-60 months), which align more closely withour
usuat business processes interms of time scales.

Intotal, 20 it 3

the movetoal

u. =l b bx ducti d
climate. i havi Joumey, asit wil for
potential high gross impact on Tandem in the short to our future progress. We will develop our emission
medium term. d 2023, f i

finalising Scope), 2and 3 near-term and net-zero

Firstly, itis exp: that targets. We plantouse theScience-Based Target
related raporting requirements for Tandem, suchas Initiati i lop d will
TCFD reporting. Thisls vith d o i o phowthe
increased operating costs and the risk of targets will be achieved. We are at the beginning of our
non-compliance. This voluntary TCFD. nd. gy Y i Y g towards
Scope3 partof ourmit tions to loring energy i
control this risk. our gy d carbe i bl
i ition isks, Including i J
Secondly, i L porting porting requir ay nd
onour, servi We it by h ial for b
y N PR
vitha for SECR Reporting
future regulations lha!may rmpaclour produc(u In
futwre, ill b onour The following d

morntgages and loans.

assoclated emissions for this reporting year for our
operations throughout the UK, inaccordance with the

All other R)
impact or lower and arediscussed Inour fuuzm TCFD regulations.
Report.
Seopel y Issions include di
Risk Management on of I gas,and i
Gt vehicle fleets.
i io analysis and a fisk. This
process started in D 2022. T were Scope
tokeyi including 1o thy
Chief Risk Officer and Financial Controller in January y y y
2023. Following thls, a risk register was presented to the
Board for January 2023. The risk was Scope3
finalised and signed offin March 2023 by our Chief Risk resulting from sources notdirectly owned byus. This
Officerand our Enterprise and Operational Risk lates to grey takenin
Manager. employee-owned vehicles) only.
Weare ly ing ol iski risk Table ): y LtdUK oy

management processes, including making it aregular
scheduled agenda itemfor the Board and relevant

no

ESGor climat risk
management.
in202;

the financialimpact of the identified risks and to

KWh).

utility and Seope Consump on (kWh)

SanP'ITolzl

]
economy. This will further strengthen our ESG and
net-zero strategy.

Metrics & Targets

InFY2022, allof our applicable Scope1,2
and 3 emissi forTandem, it
Oplo. OurScope allour

thevalua chain, includi nd

activities and our lending portfolio.

current issions s ialto

Trmpormlon lScope'l)

ScopeTora m

vL cnoampneasecm=|.ytscopsn

Scope3Total m

e T e \r“'"“ b
i Trans; nnm!onlsconax) i 130, 0!2 J
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Table2: y Ltd UK Total Location-based
Emissions{tCO2e).

2022 Cor umpllan
Utility and Scope (e
Locatlon-basa

followmg the Parmershlp for CarbonAccounting
asset
class, ly project finance, d
vehicleloans. Within our Scope 3 - Category 15
emlsslons boiler purchases account for 99% of

Jnt of the 1]
P v for.A i i 2022
LGam andothertuets(Scopa') I; TCFDReport.
[ Tmmponaﬂon(scnpe!) _.] e o L most
- . Ea— from their nd
NS accounts fortha GHG emissions associatedwitha
LGrtﬂ-SupplladElacm:lly(Scﬂvezl i 4301 company'’s entire value chain. These are considered
Indirect emigsions as they are not under a company's
ope 3Total directcontrol, yet, often account for80% - 99%of a
e business’ | emissions tootprint. S¢ 3
. Tranzponation (Scope. 3) : iteither
primary withina
company’: 1l h li
orit i i data I
Table3: y Ltd UK exist for Scope 3
Metric. h 's
[ and PCAF guidance, the
d quality of Input d h on
resulting emission estimates.
Tand
‘A Scopsu kgCO2e per FTE ~
Aﬂs«:opacohporﬂ'e Y L ions from el
ip the majority Soopel
Energy Efficlency Improvements footprint, asis exp for i Asmost
i thering primary
We ¥ n-year and therefo Y
gy A of energy used i hy i
y measures h withaviewto gy i Aiviti Ll Tandem
implernenting these measures in tha next five years. loans. finance, d home
ing gas
T p's offx anddo boilers. Using secondery data such as average fuel
notuseany naturatgas, wh!chhasledtoaOlCOZefor i nd ity
L th tits energy i Tand
saving journay and is committed to reviewing forall ithin i foli
iti iy the next
financial year. The f gas boiler 98%
of its carbonfootprint. At (heend 0f2022, Tandem had
FullScope 1,2 and 3 Reporting han70,000 boiler loansi o, and the
p | emissions
This year we have also calculated our Scope 3 emlssmns eachof i lg
footprint. Our Scope 3 per UK home, by Ofgem.
Based on this averags, 8 boiler consumes 12,000 kwhof
1 goodand gasperyear ind2,500kgCO2e.
services), 2 ital ds), 3(fuel-rel 4 Muitiply this by the 70,000 boilers on Tandem's books
i 5(waste andy Yy 3foatprint
6 travel), 7 high. Tandem i
12(end-of. of with thy despl bollers
soldpreducts)and 15 (investments), Our duci issil i i
lated improved ienci carbon

footprint, therefore boil to
finance, toreduce their
own carbon footprint.
"
togather dataaboutthe

energy they consumein the activities funded. For

‘example, gathering data about the gas consumed in new
boilersor
'Yandam to be more accurate when quanllfylng the

Methodology
™ i 1,2and3
and CO2 and
calculated using the GHG Protocol - A Corporate
ingand . .
Counil for World
,2004); Greent -

Scope 2 Guldance(World Resources Institute, 2015);
1S014064-1and 1SO 14064 -2 (iSO, 2018;1SO, 2019a);

Also. itallows Environmental Reporting Gunde!lnes Including
P to better estimal Guidance
Y i 9y ionof the 4 mm
igh
ieti Database2022 version}
This liallyimportant for home utilising KWh
\oans, inclugi Fhici ilers, airand (CV)and kgCO2s

ground source heat pumpsand solarpanels.

Table 4: Total Emisslons by scope.

Reducing our customers’ carbon
footprint

We have PCAF guidance
i have
share of
fi 4 f gy tiviti 3
many of hel;
toreduce their carbon footprint. In2022we helped
fi 5,000PVsolari over 300alr

and ground source heat pumps, over 40,000 more

ay I
8tover 5,000 homes. We estimate that the resulting

Y using proxy
fromthe Energy Saving Trust, For example,

relevant for reporting period 0170172022 - 3112/2022.

Estimates to cover missing billi
periods for i toTandem
Money Limited. These were calculated ona kWhyday
pro-ratabasls at meter level.

For i y Limited s indrectly
for ies (i.e. via alandlord of service

charge),
similar operations was calculated at meter fevel and
applied 1o the properties with no available data.

These full i applied

¥
13% of repx

ity ing total tCO2e

are for the relevant report period:
Fuil time equivalents (FTEx 550
Scope3- Ca(egoryls(lnvastments)emss)ons also

referred toas fu , have b
folowing the PCAF guidance. For each type of financing,

b and thenattributed based onth

current I io. Th tohelp
for

share of our i Wehave

thy i iplyi of

Y
have financed by the average annual natural gas
i boilerand the BEIS

gas boller: kgCO: annum.
Using

financed In 2022, we have potentiaily saved these
customers over 14,000tC02ein2022.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REVIEW

Chair
Introduction

Paul Pester
Crair

Onbehalf of theBoard, | am pleased to present the Corporate Governance
Report forthe year ended 31st December 2022,

Our Commitment to Good
Corporate Governance

We remain committed to maintaining
high standards of
withinthe Group. Therearea
comprehensiverange of policles and
proceduresin place designedto help
ensure thatitis well managed with
effective oversight and controls. This
report explains how the Board and its
committees have dealt with ensuring
that the Group's corporate governance
is effective and continues to help
support the creation of long-term
value for our sharehold
and wider stakeholders.

governance

Succession Planning and Board
Changes

Durlng the year, the Nomination
Committee considered the Board's
balance of skills and expertise, re,

contains a summary fromthe Board’s
principal committees, which sets out
theirapproach and considerations.

Effectiveness and Evaluation

The annual review of the Group's Board
was carrled outby anindependent third
party, with the assistance of the
Company Secretariat. The review
concluded that the Board andits
committees operated effectively.

Purpose, Culture, and
Experience Principles

The Group's success depends on our
commitment to high corporate
govemance standards,aswellasa
strong purpose and healthy culture both
inthe boardroom and across the Group.
The Board Is committed to promoting a
purpose and positive culture as

size, and composition ensuring that
appropriate succession and
development plans are in place for
appointments to the Board. The
Committeeis satished that the
succession planning structure in placeis
appropriate for the size and nature of the
Group.

Detalls of Board changes can be found
onPage45.

Board Meetings and Activity

In2022, the Board considered several
key areas, which can broadly be
categorisedinto the following themes:
strategy and executlon, financlat
performance, riskmanagement,
regulatory and corporate

governance, Further details on howthe
Boardop d during 2022, includ
the areas of Board focus canbe found
onpage44.

The Board's committees also continued
to play acriticalrole in the govemance
and oversight of the Group by ensuring
adherence to strong govemance
practice and principles. This section

ceerl pillars inthe delivery of the
strategic plan.

The Boardrecelves updates
throughout the yearregarding
stakeholderissues and concerns
including details of our Group-wide
employee engagement surveys, so that
more Informed decisions are made with
consideration of the interests of the
Group and ts stakeholders.

Looking Forward

QOur corporate governance priorities for
the year ahead will be focused on
embedding of our strategic ambitions
throughout our governance framework.
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Board of
Directors

Paul Pester - Chalr

Pauljoined the s 8 Non-6> ive Di Chai i
June 2022. Foll 20 il i of the most disrupti
d sumer! i UKand overseas, he
fnow holds a number of roles as either Chair, Non~Exacutive Director, Board Adviser or
investori f hi disruptive ial services Having
dviser to the UKCh of the Exch HM Yy
inb. Paulisa d interests
infinancial services. Alife-fong swimmer, g\ and

multi-sport events, often for the charity Breast Cancer Now, where he was formerlya
Patron. As well 85 being Chair of the Board and Nominations Committee, Paulls a
memberof Tandem’s Remunerationand Risk Committees.

Alex Mollart - Chief Executive Officer (Designate)

Director inthe Credit acareer spanning
over 25years. After . atYorkshire Bank, he went i gt
inance In Branch, A Menager 60+ Branch
across Northem England and Scotland. After a 10 year period of exceptional growth
heleft tofound Opl ly Ist Stop in2004, and

business'siast 15years of expansion.

Dave McCarthy - Chief Financlal Officer (Designate)

D 30years’ Kretail banking Fi

Qualihed as both ,he has

board Y i .

Te Bristol & West, Britannia. He waslately a founder
and CFO for A ial

Inception throughto profitability.

Davld Fisher - Chair of Risk Committee - Senlor independent Director

David has b N E ive Director at Tand s
2020. 7 i i and " nd
saerves as Tandem's Senlor Director. D i

g e the retall i industs Y.
H asa N iveDirector of the jiding Socisty since 2012

ands a former CEQ of Salnsbury’s Bank.

Matthew Donaldson - Chalrof - N Di r
b i Non-E» ive Director at

2022 i . i d price

comparison Formerly the Group CEO of BGL Group, Matthewis now a

Ne 13 tive Di of Jp and Cl BGL Insurance. He

hasal d as Chalrman of Th 2020. During his

tenure at BGL he founded Ce com, i toit:

market leading position.

Talita Ferrelra - Chalr of Audit Committee - Non-Executive Director
Talita has be i £ ive Director at Tandem since April 2021,
infinance, i "
ip strategy. Talitais f f Chartered in
England andWales and a feliow of the Institute of Directors{lOD"). She has extensive
i i W captive financial services
Talita slso holds a Non-E» ive Di hair of Audit
Credit E Ple. Sheis the former CFOand CHRO of BMW
Financial Services Ltd and BMW UK Ltd. As well ss being Chair of the Audit Committes,
Taiitals a member of Tandem’s Risk Committee.

David Torpey - Non-Executive Director
N

David has been Director atT: ince October

2020. Hoh: i i inspeclalist itisati

risk. David was the CEO of Biuestep Bank ABfrom 2007-201 and priortothat spent
y it Bank PLC with 7 years asa Director in the Financial

Institutions Group.

lames Scott - Shareholder Non-Executive Olrector

James has beena Non-E ive Director at Te i 2020. Hehas 20
years of expe logy, financial and
busi James lified prior i artnerof
PollenStreet Capital Ltdin 2013 he worked i audit for PWC, InIT.

for EY, as Cx Directorof i i d equity
i roles for12years at f Scotland. X L of

Tandem’s Rigk, Audit,

Matthew Patter - Shareholder Non-Executive Director

Matthew has bx ive Dir atTandem since March 2022. He holds

i the field of priv ity, ssset . He
isalso a quaiified Ch: d 3 artner of Palien Street
Capital Ltd since 2013 with ibility for fi Includir Hehasalso
held Non-Es ive Di f Capit 2016. Matthew
isalso of Tandem' i i M
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S.172
Statement

AtTandem, we have a long-term track
record of creating value and dellvering
positive outcomes forall of our

keh Weare o
understanding and meeting the needs of
these varlous groups, engaging with them
andadapting our approach to create value
for them. We look to engage with our

nd
provided, which in turn Is embedded In the

Tandem.

Inaddition to direct engagement by
members of the Board, the Directors
consider the stakeholderimpacts of all
proposals submittedtoit fromacrossthe
Group. Stakeholder interests are central to
the Board's delegation of the management
of the business to the Executive. Inturn the
Executive, including the CEO and CFO,
routinely provide the Board with details of
non-Board stakeholderinteraction and
feedback from across Tandemviaregular
business updates. Stakeholder interests are
alsoidentified by the Executive for
consideration In all other proposals put to the
Board.

As aPRA and FCAregulated Group, the Board
Is also considerate to the risk and contro!
envionment during discussions and
dedslon-making. Customer outcomes are at
the forefront of Directors’ minds when
considering the management of risks and
controls and the Board are clear on ensuring
thatcustomers Interests are protected.
Directors acknowledge that having due
regard to all stakeholder perspectives may
notalways resultin the decision-making
which achieves a positive outcome for all
stakeholders. Dependent on the decisions
andtopics In question, the relevance of each
stakeholder may differ,and equally the
Directors shall seek to adopt various
methods of engagement with stakeholders.

The Board will often engage directly with
some stakeholders on certainissues, but
gliven the breadth of the Group's

keholders direct will not
always bepractical. Thus, Directors receive
reports from across the organisation to
enhance their understanding of the impact of
Tandem's operations on, andthe interests
and views of, its key stakeholders.

Inaccordance with the Companies Act 2006
(the ‘Act’), the Directors provide this
statement describing how they have had
regardto the matters set outin section 172(1)
of the Act,when performing their duty to
promote the success of the Company under
section172.

The Directors remain mindful in all their
discusslons of the long-term consequences
of their declsi aswell as theimp

of the Group maintaining a reputation for
high standards of business conduct andthe
Board engaging with, and taking account of
the views of, key stakeholders. The Directors
confirm they have acted, in good faith, to
promote the success of the Group for the
benefit ofits members as awhole and in
doing so considering all relevant
stakeholders.

Anoverview of how the Board has
considered stakeholder interests during
2022is described on the following pages.

Customers are at the heart of our
business, and everything that we do.
As ~-centric !

we seek to create products and
services that provide more people
with the opportunity to access

B A ,@ aiﬁ?
-%ﬁ}iﬂéu ;e""‘%’ d

ustomer

further actlon was required.

There are opportunities for the Group to

gag and
vice versa, throughout the ditferent polnts in the
customerlife cycte. Some of thesa mechanisms

tud "

sound financial services p!
Further, as Tandem'’s mission states,
‘we’re here to make it easler for
more people to choose a greener
Ifestyle’. We do this by helping hard
working people save, borrow and
spend Inways that are a little bit
greener.

The Board remains committed to

with our customer

‘customer journeys.
Journey, wilthelp
ustounderstand whatmatters most tothem.

our

onthe:

needs, whi i nd
the Group's goals.

During 2022, following completion of the Oplo
d of the

customerjourney. Customer, broker and

discussions whichultimatelyinfluences strategic
decision-making, such as plans related todigital
The Board i i

Group' g various

ctivities, the B

a
number of activities that impacted Tandem's

Committee. During 2022,

customer base and as such Dir
customer Interests remained at the forefront of

ly
rasponse and operationa! impact of the

ind:

9
include therebranding of Oplo and Alliumto
Tandem to ensure a‘one bank' operating
model, whilstagainst a backdrop of rising

f theFCA's Consumer Duty.

The following metsics are some of the main tools
assess the i of ou andthe

interest rates B £1 impacton
product pricing, playing a key partin ensuring
suchrateincreases were fairly passed on to
Tandem's depositors.

Examples of Board engagement with
customers are evidenced via frequent updates

thof our i customer,
including: customar satisfactionscores;
complaints; ombudsman feedback; Trustpilot
revlews; and social media.

The Audit and Risk Committees respectively have
N isks and

ustomer

received P, l. g
key areas of customer concem, covering a

theyear
‘management and internal audit. The Board

range of both i 1l

ight into the
Group's performance in deliveringon
1

Ing that the
Group's products and offerings remain
it for purpo:




- i e Y

QOur people are tothedellvery
of the Group’'s strategy and ambitions
and thisisrecognised by the Board In
Its engagement with colleagues
throughout the year.

©
attract, build and retaln a high calibre talent pool

d that our peopk bout
their Individual contributionand Tandem asa
whole.

, wil i regularly
speaking at various Group-wide forums.

LUstening to our colleagues and acting upon thelr
essential to maintail
engagement, whether thisis throughundertaking

regular pIni
leadi

o o .
onbusiness performance. Training and

the development of all employees.

Tandem has over 500 employees, who take pride
. s frrr 2 et e "

with their support and input, we are developing a

empowered, accountable and inspired to ensure
that we are able to build a greenerbank. The
contributions of Tandem’s people and their

p bythe

Board.

During the year, the Remuneration Committee

reviewed
considered levels of attrition, salary
i 0 nd bonu:

d sl inthe

developmentof a ranewed People and Reward

Strategy, !l of whichwas essentlal inensuring a

‘one bank’ feel is similarly applied to the Group's

remuneration approach.

Consideration of the outcomes of surveys
completed by colleagues across the
Group, including annual and aghoc
surveys, and review of progressin

Consideration and approval of targeted
costof living payments to colleagues
against the backdrop on elevated inflation
and increasing rate environment.
Board member attendance at arange of
business area leadership meetings and
colleague network events.
Informal colleague braakfast and lunch
meetings were held by the CEO.
Town Hetl sessions hosted by both the
Chairand the CEO, complemented by

i yother senior
leadars, with feedback shared with the
wider Board.

The Board will continue 1o consider its

1sure they

ntinue to g

views of

between the Board and the workforce.

Reguleters &

GoN.EHNIE N

The Board continues to maintain strong
and openrelationships with our

| and g itles,
Including the FCA, PRA and HMRC. Asa
Groupitis Important that we maintaina
culture thatis focused on high
standards In all our business activitles,
regulatory complianceanda
transparent relationship withour
regulators.

nd

fand adapting to th

i 24
framework. Further, we regularly interact with the

affiliated with to ensure we are engaged with
issues impacting ourindustry.

Relevant engagement included:

O  TheChairand Individual Directors, in
particular the Chairs of the Board

theFCA and PRAon a numberofaspects
of tharegulatory agenda.

The Board regulady reviewed updates on
wider Group regulatoryintersction,
providing a view of key areas of regulatory
focus, and also progress madein
‘addressing key regulatory priorities.
Meetings were held between the Board
and the PRAtodiscuss the acquisitionand
subsequentintegrationof Oplo as well as
the outcome and progress of actions
associated to the PRA's Periodic
Summary Meetingletter.

relevant

ORI T, M

tite for
of conduct rules and regulations or from failure to

have adequate systems and controls, The Riskand
Audit Ce i

'
controls providing a view of key areas of focus,
alongside progressmade inaddressing any
associated remediation activities.
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The Grouprelles ona number of
partners for Important aspects of our
per and service p!

d atign to our risk
requirements and operata responsibly. Qur key

supplier ip: y
nd

y our central

expertise and support. Engagement with suppliers
mestings, with I

taking place at leastquartery with our tier 1

suppliers, aswell as an annual review to seek

teedback onthe overall partnarship.

The Group's Conduct Framework sets out the rules
and guidance formanagémenton how Tendem
engages with outsourcing partners to ensure that

place sothat the Group does not breach conduct
rules or regulations due to third party failures.

The Board consi nd. p's
Modern Slavery Act Statement, which sets out the
steps that we are taking to tackle modem slavery
and human tratficking within our business, supply
chainand sphere of influence. Itis important to the
the
Group. Thisis considered at the procurement
stageand i i

Regular revit on and

performance of suppliers which cover a range of

Y

cotruption.

Investors

p engages regularly’
investor toster
long-term strategic understanding of Tandem's
strategy. This frequent engagement throughout
theyear i P's

progress, strategy and financlat performance.

SIS, Y X

toour
integrai pert of Tandem’s culture. Ourpeople
play akeyrole Inhow we engage with our

todrive

Group.

A across the UK,
responsibility to provide employment

fot ts
waecali’home’. We're detighted to see that happen
'with our partnership with The BoatHouse Youth
charlty.

Tanderis half way through a three year Platinum
Patron sponsorship foriocal charity The
BoatHouse Youth. As Blackpooi's biggest youth
club, the BoatHouse Youth provides anincredibly
. .

ppO
training and developing our people. We are
- . d

sarvices for young
peopleinthe area - ali free of charge.

lin Tandem, and inthy
i Acut

senseof ility for
DNAof the Group.

for our

demonstrated across both financisl and

Sadly. ks theworst areasin
the UK for child poverty. Since it was founded In
2009, The Boathouse Youth has helped over
2,000 children from some of the most deprived
areas of the town.

The cherity offers a great mix of funand practical

activities, support,

d

Inour suppon and follow

(] 9

promises. Across 2022 we have focused on

‘opportunities, which will continue to be of focus In

As a Platinum Patron, Tandemhas pledged
£25,000 annually for three years, to help ensure
loi inueto enjoy

2023. Further. given

9
local foodbanks, that similarly will be actively
monitored inthe coming year.

Uy thet Thy Youth
provides.

About The BoatHouse Youth

young people

forhaving the

Y

g support. We
engageina number of ways, Including:

y
various community events; and targeted
fundraising.

Morethan
50% of come from thy
areliving ‘below the breadiine’.

They"

granted;

abed-ti

positive impact.

Proud to be a Platinum Patron of The

the dentist.

The bi

Youth
With our office In Blackpoo), Lancashire, tmeans a

of ali of thi

parents. Whichis why all The BoatHouse Youth
servicas are provided for free. Formore
information, visit www. thebhy.co.uk
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Environme

AtTandem, we care deeply about our
customers, our colleagues and the
impactwe make on the planet. The
Groupisconsciousthatitls

tncr ly important

p with
regards to the environment, noting not
only do our stakeholders demandit,
butbecauseItis theright thing to do.

Our colleagues want 1o know that they work for 8

P oo N ing the

Qur toknow
that we ate notonly looking after their financial
needs, but we are mindful of their future. Our
broader shareholders and regulators want to know
that we are a Group whichls rising to the
i d

pentothe
opportunities that tackling the climate emergency
will present.

Colleague-directed activitiesinclude: internal

and
functions toreduce travel; various recycling
initiatives; and the cycle to work scheme for
employees.

The Group Is committed to continuously reduceits

print,

behaviour

thi sall aspects
of the Group going forward. Thisis refiectedinthe
establishment of an ESG and Impact Committee
as partof the Executive Governance Framework

initlatives forESG across the Group.

Environment

Tandemplants over 30,000 new trees
Inits very own Tandem Wood

Tande

helpto planttha trees, but also bulbs and
woodland fauna suchas primroses. This
i ad

supports

together
partners since June 2021, focusing on sustainability
projects. The Group Invited new customers to join

its mi planet,

With the
Group, T: i tners to

9
initiativ "

tothe
Group's officein Lancashire - Leighton Hall Estate.

Based inCarnforthand set withinLancashire’s Area
©of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB), Tandem

L f forwi a
well as forests fit for the future, The aimwas to
i 30,000

trees inanarea of the estate whichneeded
attentionand was disused. Additianally,

Impact, wi clting sched
projects held.

Tandem's Chief People Officer, Steve McNicholas

*Creatii it isa
big part of why Tandem exists. Wehavea track
record of doing business the rightway, while
delivering a positive impact for our customers, our
Ppeople and our community, and we want to extend
thisimpact to the planet.”

“We'

genvine difference to protecting our planet.”

Estate owner, Lucy Arthurs added, “Tandem's
PP ability blish
that i drive for
long term stabillsation and reduction in carbon. By
bt

o f

only

AOI program for

in2023, h

anevents calendar of volunteering, including
planting 10,000 bulbs for pollinators and
re-planting 100 new saplings toreplace any vees
that didn't take initially within our Tandem Wood.

Alexander Mollart
Chief Executive Officer (Designate)

David McCarthy
Chief Financial Officer (Designate)

26 April2023
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Corporate Governance

Report

Throughout 2022 Tandem has built onits
existing corporate governance framework to
ensure that the Group is supported by good
practice standards In line with banking best
practice. Tandem ensures that both the UK
Corporate Govermnance Code and guidance
set out by the PRA are considered across
governance processes and procedures. This
seeksto ensure that the Group is supported
by an effective framework which facilitates
efficient, effective decision-making whilst
also providing protection for our
shareholders, customers, employees and
otherkey stakeholders.

Board Level Committees

Tandem’s governance structure has been
reorganised to support the larger Group
(following the acquisition of Oplo Holdings
Limited) andits key areas of risk and to
ensure appropriate oversight of strategy,
performance and culture. Splitbetween the
Board of Directors and the Executive
Management Team, it strives to support the
executivein thelr oversight of performance
and delegations from the Board for the
day-to-day management of the business.

NN NSNS NS

Integration

Risk Audit Oversight

Committee Committee
{RC) (AC)

Remuneration Nominations.
Committee Committee

(RemCo) {NomCo)

Commitee
{1oc)

Board Composition & Changes

The Board comprises nine Directors, being
two Executive Directors, five INED's and two
Shareholder Non-Executive Directors.
Directors have been selected to provide a
widerange of experlence and skills spanning
relevant technical areas and industry sectors,
including financial services, Board
composition s crucialin ensuring that
effective challenge and debate is provided
onareasincluding: Group performance;
strategy; and culture.

The Board retains amajority Independencein
line with good practice.

During 2022, several changes took ptace on
the Board. Following the acquisition of Oplo
Holdings Limited on 24th january 2022,
Alexander Mollart (Deputy Chlef Executive
Officer)was appointed to the Board as an
Executive Director.

Jeroen Nieuwkoop also stepped down from
the Board on 24th January 2022.

InMarch 2022, to enhance the skills and
experience of the Board, Matthew
Donaldson was appointed as an INED.
Following this, Matthew Potter was
appointed to the Board as a Shareholder
Non-Executive Director.

Board Roles

In Aprit 2022, Jeffrey Pritchard highlighted his
intenttoretire from the Board effective 30th
June 2022, On 15th June 2022, Paul Pester
was appointed to the Board as an INED.
Following Jeffrey Prichard’s departure on
30th June 2022, Paul Pester was appointed
as Chalr designate and on 12th October
2022,the PRA approved Paul's application to
Chalr of the Board. Jeffrey Pritchard led
Tandem through a period of significant
transformation. The Directors thank Jeffrey
Pritchard for his support andieadership
during this time and wish him the very best for
the future,

Subsequently, both Susannah Aliker and
Anthony Murphy resigned from the Board on
8th December 2022 and 13th February 2023
respectively. Similarly, the Directors thank
Susannah Aliker and Anthony Murphy for their
contributions to the Group and alt the bestin
their future careers. Margaret Hassall
stepped down fromthe Board and Chair of
the Remuneration and Integration Oversight
committees on Ist February 2023.

InDecember 2022 Alexander Mollart
succeeded Susannah Aliker as Chief
Executive Officer and David McCarthy was
appointed to the Board on 23rd February
2023 as Chief Financial Officer.

Responsibilities of key Board roles are summarised below:

Executive Level Committees

Executive Committee
AN AN AN NN

ESG& Integration
tmpact & Change
Committee Committee

Executive Risk
Committee
Asset &
Uability

Cecmmittee

Operations 1T Steering
Commitiee Committee

®  Chairperson -leads the Board and ensures Its effectiveness. The Chairperson helps set the
tone forthe Group and supports effective communicationwith other Directors and
Executive Management. Further, the Chai 1p leadership and facilif
relationships with shareholders, reg 1d other key stakeholders;

8  Senlorindependent Director (‘SID’) - provides a sounding board for the Chairpersonand
other Directors on the Board. The SID s also a channel for communication when other normal
channels(through the Chairperson or Executive Management) have falled;

®  independent Non-Executive Directors - provide appropriate challenge and scrutiny to
management providing experience andindependentjudgement indiscussions and decision
making; and

®  Shareholder Non-Executive Directors - ensure shareholders have appropriate input on
business strategy and performance, ensuring that the views of the majority shareholder are
included in Board discussions
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Board
Governance

Board Responsibliities
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its stiategic objectives and goals.

The Board's responsibilities include:
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Audit Committee
The Audit C: b ibity for ight of ial reporting internal
contials, i xt landi | 8y The Audit C: i i Dwith
recent and relevant i During 2022, the Audit Ct
to fthe

Oversight of the preparations of the. Annual Report andF i including
judgements and provisions;
L Rsvlewofquaneny internal audit reports. Intemal audit reports during the year i isk
reasury, i s, executiva level
porting, ICAAP, U ing, Cyber ity, ILAAP and IT change
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Executive
Governance

The CEQ is supported in their role primarily through the establishment of an ExCosupported by
sub-committees below the ExCo to focus on specific matters. Following the acquisition of Oplo
Holdings Limited, a review was undertakento refine the executive governance structure to
ensure that the Senior Management team has robust oversight of business performance and the
management of risk across the Group. An overview of how the executive govemance feedsinto
Board governanceis Included on page 44.

Asummary of the scope of the ExCo and its associated sub-committeesisincluded below:

Executive Committee

TheExCo provides day-day-to-day oversight and monitoring of the operational and financlal
performance of Tandem. Ensuring appropriate responsibility for quarterly reviews of the
overseeing of executive objectlves, risk considerations and fulfilment of strategic objectives.
TheExCo also reviews and recommends matters to the Board and Board Committees in line with
established Terms of Reference. Declsions are also made by the ExColinline with delegated
authorities from the Board.

Executive Risk Committee

TheExecutive Risk Committee (ERC’) Is responsible for the monitoring and management of the
Group's fisk management arrangements and practices. Further, the committee provides
particular oversight of principal risk types against risk appetite and in line with the Group’s RMF.
The ERC recommends some matters to the Board Risk Commiittee, where appropriate.

Asset & Liability Committee

TheAsset & Llability Committee (‘ALCo")isresponsible for ensuring Tandem’s balance sheet s
managed effectively with consideration toliquidity, funding and capital risk. ALCo determines
the appropriate use of debt and derivatives in pursuit of managing theserisks in line with the
Treasury Policy andriskappetite. The ALCo considers these matters atbotha Group
consolidated basis and at a Solo entity level.

N\
Q W

IT Steering Committee

The IT Steering Committee (1TSC’) is responsible for oversight of the operational aspects of
technologyin Tandem. This covers key aspects of service, cyber ( I cost of hi

of technology estate, IT policy and Tandem’s data and architecture controls.

Operations Committee

The Operations Committee ( OpCo'}isresponsible for the monitoring of the operational
performance and risk of the Group. The OpCo shall beresponsible for the appropriate
resourcingto ensure that the Group has the bilities to deliver op excellence to
all key stakeholders.

Integration & Change Committee

The Integration & Change Committee {'ICC") s responsible for the oversight of key strategic
projects and performance of change Initiatives in line with the Group's strategic objectlves.
During 2022, the ICC was responsible for the integration of Oplo Holdings Limited Into Tandem.

ESG & Impact Committee

The ESG & Impact Committee is responsible for the provision of advice and guidance in relation
to Tandem’s vision and strategy for environmental, social and some goverance matters.

\'f:\\ o
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Directors’
Report

TheDirectors of the Group present their report together with the audited consolidated Financia!
Statements for the year ended 31st December 2022, Other information whichisrelevant to the
Directors Report has been referenced where relevant and have been highlightedin the below

table:

) Cpkal Hanagement
! Future Developments )

Evanta Subsequentio the Reporting Oate

Board condderationof Section 72 cuties

Corporate Governance Statement

Tandembhas built onits existing corporate
governance framework to ensure that the
Group Is supported by good practice
standardsin line with banking best practice,
consideringboth the UK Comporate
Governance Code and the guidance set out
by the PRA.

The Board has specifically considered
the areas of importance highlightedin
the PRA Supervisory Statement 5/16 -
Cormporate Governance: Board
Responsibilities. The Board is accountable
for, amongst other items, the setting of
strategy, guiding and influencing culture as
well as setting and overseeing the Risk
Appetite of the firm.

Dividends
TheDirectors are not recommending a

dividendinrespect of the year ended 31st
December 2022 (2021: £nil).

Pagess
Note £20f e Fnsdia Sstements
" Noe 420f the Financial Satements

Swategic Rportonpage3s

Employees with Disabilities

Applications for employmentby people with
disability are given full and fair consideration
bearinginmind the respective aptitudes and
abllities of the applicant concerned and our
ability to make reasonable adjustments to
the role and the work environment. Inthe
event of existing employees becoming
disabled, all reasonable effort ismade to
ensure that appropriate trainingis given and
their employment with the Group continues.
Tralning, career developmentand promotion
of adisabled personis, as faras possible,
identical to that of an able-bodied person.

Appointment and Replacement of Directors

The Company’s Articles of Association set out the rules for the appointmentand replacement of
Directors. The Directors who served during the year and up to the date of signing the Financial

Statenents were:

PadPester . e Aopolniad 15/062022
ttreyPritchard h e " Appoled10/01/ 2018 Revrad 3008/ 2022
SosaerahAllar - ceo " Appolesd OAN&/ 2071 Rovired 087212022 B

DevdFisher 0 Appoined 71272020
Metthew Dorsichon . wED ; Aopoited 303/ 202

. TohaForis nep ' Aoported 2604208

' HorgotHatank N WD ° AppOnad 71212070 RangredOVO202

) DevdTomey W Aoponed 021072020

SR : , ,

Metthow Potiar SharenoldecNon-Evecutive Grector i AP WON2022
Jameascor . SroholderNon-Executive Direcior AppoNed 20872020
NeandorMolirt Z
- Anchony Muphy >

Directors' Interests

The following Directors in office held an
interest in the shares of the Group as at
31st December2022:

& Anthony Murphy

o AlexMollart

©  Susannsh Aliker
Directors’ Indemnities

The Company's Articles of Association

benefit of Its Directors during the year,
and these remainin force at the date of
this report.

The Group hasmalntained appropriate
Directors’ and Officers’ liability Insurancein
place throughout 2022.

Company Secretary

All Directors have accessto the services of
the Company Secretaryinrelationto the
discharge of their duties. Elten
Hastings-Jones s the Company Secretary

provide that, subject to the p of
the Companies Act 2006, the Company
may Indemnify any Director or former
Director of the Company or any
assoclated Company against any liability
and may purchase and maintain for any
Director or former Director of the
Company or any asscciated Company
Insurance againstany liabllity.

The Group has made qualifying
third-party indemnity provisions forthe

of Tandem. She canbe contacted at the
Company’s registered office, details of
whichareonpage 2.

Going Concern

Inpreparing the consolidated Financial
Statements, the Directors must satisfy
themselves that itis reasonable to adopt the
goingconcembasis.
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Aspart of the Directors’ consideration of the
appropriateness of adopting the going
concem basls, various financial projections
have been considered, including a severe but
plausible downside scenario. The Directors
have subsequently concluded that no material
changes to the Company or Group’s activities
willbe required beyonda controlled and
targeted reduction of newtendinginthe
severe but plausible downside scenarlo,
Therefore, the Company and Group can
operate with adi financlal for
the next 12 months, withboth capital ratios and
liquidity in excess of minimum regulatory
requirements.

Thus, after making the necessary enquiries, the
Directors have a reasonable expectationthat
the Company / Group has sufficient resources
k¢ inop fora
period of atieast 12 months from the signing of
these Financlal Statements.

Political and Charitable Donations

Th P mad d of £44k
during 2022.

Share Capital

Tandem Money Limited is a company limited by
shares,

Details of the Company's Issued share capital,

details of any inthe
Company’s Issued sharecapital during the year,
are shown inNote 30 of the Financlal
Statements.

Regulation

The Group complies with all the requirements of
its regulatory authorities, givenits status of
being authorised andregulated by the PRA and
FCA.

Qualifying deposits heldby the Group are
covered by the Financlal Services
Compensation Scheme('FSCS’)and any
complaints made by customers may be
referred to the Financlal Ombudsman Service.
The Group is a member of UK Finance
{previously The British Bankers’

Assoclation).

Auditor

Inaccordance with s487 of the Companles Act
2006, aresolutionls to be proposed at

Board forreappointment of
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as auditors of the
Company.

Disclosure of Information to the
Auditor

The Directors confirm that:

So far as each of the Directors is aware, there s
norelevant audit information of which the
auditorisunaware; and

The Directors have taken all the steps that they
ought to have taken as Directors to make
themsslives aware of any relevant audit
Informationand to establish that the auditoris
aware of that Information.

This confirmation s given andshould be

1ce with the pi

the €ompanles Act 2006,
Directors’ Responsibility Statement

The Directors are responsible for preparing the
Consolidated Annual Report and Accounts and
the Group and Company financlal statements in
accordance with applicable law and
regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare
financial statements for each financisl year.
Under that law, the Directors must prepare the
Group and the Company financial statements in
accordance with UnitedKingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice (United

FRS 102 The Financial Reporting Standard
applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland’,
and applicable law).

Under company law, the Directors must not

the 1ts unless they are satisfied
that they give a true and fairview of the state of
affairs of the Group and Company and of their
profit or loss for that period.

Inpreparing the Group's financlal
the Dil i

ql to:
properly setectand apply accounting
licles; presentir Includi

accounting poticies, inamanner that
provides relevant, reliable, comparable and
understandable information; and provide

dditional disclosures when compti with
the specific requirements of FRS1021s
Insufficient to enable an understanding of the
Impact of particular transactions, other
events and conditions on the entity’s

ble, and pi the
y forthe shareholder to assess the
Group® itlon and perf busl

model! and strategy. This responsibility
statement was approved by the Board of
Directors on 26 April 2023 and signed onits
behalf.

financlal position and i | per

Finally, the Directors must assess the Group’s
abllity to continue as a golng concern.

The Di areresponsible for
adequate accounting records that are
sufficient to show and explainthe Group's
transactions, and disclose with reasonable
accuracy, at any time, the financial position
of the Company, enabling them to ensure
thatits financial statements comply with
the C Act2006. Add ly, the
Di are responsible for safeguarding
the Group's assetsand, hence, taking
reasonable steps to prevent and detect
fraudand other irregutarities.

Each of the Directors, whose names and
functions are listed on page 51, confirms
that, to the best of their knowledge:

s the financial statements, prepared in
accordance with the applicable set of
accountingstandards, give a true and
fair view of the assets, liabilities, fnancial
position and profit or loss of the Group
andthe undertakings includedin the
consolidation taken as awhole;

®  the Strategic Report{on page 4)and the
Directors’ Report (on page 50)include a
fair review of: () the business's
developmentandperformance; and (ji)
the position of the Group and the
undertakingsincludedinthe
consolidationtaken as awhole,
together with a description of the
principal risks and uncertalinties that
theyface;

®  the Annual Report and financial
statements comply with all aspects of
the Guidelines for Disclosure and
Transparency in Private Equity; and

& the Annual Report and Accounts, taken
as awhole, are falr, balanced and

Moiart
Chief Officer (D

DavidMcCarthy
ChiefFinanclal Officer (Designate)

26 April2023




Risk

Report

The Group regards effective risk management as akey element of its sustainable
performance. overaltvalue creation and its long term success.

Risk
Management

Approach to Risk Management

The Tandem Board, as the goveming body of TML and Its underlying entities, is responsible for
ensuring that effective systems and controls are In placetomanage risks and for exercising
oversight to ensure that these are effective over time. The Board delegates authority for
day-to-day risk management to SeniorManagement, and by extension the firstline business,
and exercises oversight of these arrangements through appropriate systems of governance, Mi
andreporting. Thisis achieved through the Risk Management Framework ('RMF’) and is described
inmore detail below.

The Board considers that as at 31st December 2022 it hadin place adequate systems and
controls with regard to Tandem’s risk profile and strategy. Whilst risk cannot be eliminated, the
Board s satisfied that the systems of internal control embedded within the RMF have worked
effectively during the ast financlal year to Identify, monitor, manage and control allrelevant risks.

Risk Strategy and Culture

Tandem'srisk strategy Is to continue to create and maintain a robust risk culture and embed
effectiveriskmanagement practices in order to ensure that the Group delivers aresponsible and
sustalnable business.

The Board are committed to promoting a risk aware culture, where appropriate decision making
andbehaviours are modelled by the Board of Directors, ExCo and Senlor Management and
thereby sets the standard across the organisation.

Tandem’srisk culture aims to ensure that all business functions and employees consider their role
Inriskmanagement and work appropriately with the risk function during the development of new
products, procedures, policies and systems.
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This approach is further supported by Tandem's Conduct Risk Framework, which sets out the key
components that support the 1ment and of a positiverisk culture:

Top-downrisk aware culture;

Competence and capabllity;

Fitness and propriety;

Performance management(which focuses on behaviours as well as delivery);
Happiness and wellbeing;

Psychological safety;

Incentives;

Confilcts of Interest;

Whistleblowing;

Individual emp ment and bility; and
Opennessto challenge

obooOooaoOooOoDoO

Through the above mechanisms, Tandem seeks to embed a culture that supports and enables
the management of risks to the business, the realisation of positive customer outcomes, and
ongoing withall latory and legal requirements.

TheBoard and Senior Management encourage a culture of transparency and openness to ensure
thatissues are escalated promptly, where required. Thisinciudes ensuring broad awareness of
the whistleblowing process with training and awareness activities for all staff members.

The Chalr of the Audit Committee s the appointed Whistleblower Champion, with the Chlef Audit
Officer assigned as thepoint of contact on whistieblowing matters.

Development of Risk Management at Tandem

Development of Risk Management at Tandem During the year, a key priority has been to grow and
shape Tandem'srisk resource and capabillity in line with strategic developments and operational
growth. This has meant that Risk Function capability and capacity has been significantly
enhanced, with a focuson dellvering a strongrisk and compliance function to support the
enlarged Group following acquisition the of Oplo.

Tandem will continue toreview, refine and evolve its approach torisk management inrecognition
of changes in the scope and scale of the business, andin line with the changing regulatory
landscape.

Risk Management
Framework

The Group's RMF outlines Tandem's approach to risk management and how the key risk
exposures of the Group areidentified, assessed and managed ensuring that risk exposure does
not exceed Risk Appetite.

ebuatieyd 3 yBIBIeAO U PUZ

The Group's RMF Is a Board defined document, designed to ensure a holistic and consistent
approach to the management and aggregation of all risksandis fully integratedinto the
management of the business and decision-making, ensuring risk-related decisions are
consistent with the Group's gy and approved risk ite framework (and in compliance
with the standards set by regulators). The purpose of the RMF is to establish astructured
approach to identify, manage, monitor and report risks, which:

1 Facilitates interal dialogue onrisk;
11 Clarifies roles and responsibilities; and
0 Enables the assessment of risk at an enterprise level

This enables the Board to discharge itsresponsibiliities for risk management and oversight by:

n  Defining the Principal Risks that arise fromthe business strategy;
B Outlining the mechanism to set and monitor Risk Appetite for each of the Principal Risks;

and,

@ Setting outmechanisms for delegation andreporting to allow the Board to oversee
adherence toRisk Appetite

The kls periodicall d, updated and app by theBoardtoreflect any

changes tothe business and external regulations, law, corporate governance and industry best
practice. This helps the Group to ensure it continues to meet its responsibilities to its customers,
shareholders and regulators.
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Risk Appetite

TheBoard-approved Risk Appetite defines the type and level of risks that the Groupisprepared
to accept In pursuit of its strategic objectives, both under normal and stressedbusiness
conditions.

Risk appetite Is expressed within the Consolidated Statementof Risk Appetite, which comprises
both qualitative and quantitative statements for managing each of the principalrisk types with a
limit structure in place to ensure delivery against appetite.

Furthermore, risk appetite consliders the material risks to the Group, with conslderation givento

the ialimpact oneler suchasthe Sheet, sustainability, customers,
employees, rep { and stakehold

Three fines of Defence

TheRisk and Compliance Functionisresponsible for providing Ight and reporting to the

Boardregarding the level of risk to which Tandem is exposed and the extent towhich the risksin
the corporate plan are consistent with Board-approved risk appetite. It is independent from the
operational teams andls actively involvedin all material risk management decisions in order to be
able to deliver a complete view of the whole range of risks of the Group. Tandem's approachto
riskmanagement follows the best practise ‘ThreeLines of Defence’ model, to ensure adequate
oversight and assurance over risk management:

®  Firstline of defencerepresents the core business units and operational functions
responsible for understanding and managing the risks In thelr respective areas. it contains
the staff responsible for identifying and managing risk, as part of thelr accountability for
achleving thelr objectives.

® Second line of d prises the Risk and Ct Function who provide
Ind dent ght and challenge of the firstline of defence. The function provides the
frameworks, tools and techniques to enable risk and compliance to be managedin the first
line, conducts monitoring to judge how effectively they are operating, andhelpstoensure
cor of \s and measurement of risk across the Group.

a Third line of defencels provided by the Intemal audit function (which s currently
outsourced). This sits outside of the risk management processes of the firstand second
line, with its main role belng to ensure that the first twollines are operating effectively.
Tasked by (and reporting to) the Audit Committee, it provides an evaluation on the
effectiveness of governance, risk management and intemal controls to the Board and
senlormanagement. Further, it also gives assurance toregulators and external auditorsas
appropriate.

Risk Governance and Oversight

Tandem's Board comprises nine individuals andis majority independent. Following an external
search process, Paul Pester was appointed to the role of Independent Non-Executive Chairin
June 2022

Tandem to its corporate and risk bility and
thereis an ongoing focus on enhancing and embedding a'risk aware’ culture across the
expanded Group. Following the Oplo acquisition, Tandem’s govemance structure hasbeen
reorganised to support the larger Group and its key areas of risk, to ensure appropriate oversight
of strategy, performance and culture. Split between the Board of Directors and the Executive
Team, it supports the Management in their oversight of performance and delegations fromthe
Board for the day-to-day activities of the business. In addition to the formal committee
structures, Tandem has clear arrangements in place for the apportionment of accountability in
line with the SeniorManagers and Certification Regime (‘'SMCR’), and providing approprlate
delegated authority for day-to-day decision-making alongwith adequate oversight.

The ongoing enhancement and embedding of the RMF is a key priority, including enhancing the
quality of dataand which will continue to be facilitated by the
technology team.

The Board has established a Risk Committee comprising independent Non-Executive Directors
(NEDs’) whokeepthe design and performance of the Group’s RMF under regular scrutiny. The
role of the Risk Committee s to support the Board in the oversight of Risk Management systems
and controls and the monitoring of Tandem'’s Risk Profile relative to the Board-approved Risk
Appetite.



| RISKREPORT

Principal Risks
& Uncertanties

cution

B P
The Group inthe ex
“tojrisks, some of whichhave'been

~ 34of theseFi

ial Siéié'mé’ ts |

8t ra(?gk:

e

LEFIDTL N

Re«ol fingaca o 10 e Brono.

CYNGCILG GO Qul O LT LG W X

WHERE TANDEM IS EXPOSED

2yl L 10

070 Meeline

DLINITL M

Reamat Tinee™m
£X08C1GL 015, 0%

WHERE TANDEM IS EXPOSED

lds capi any fisk itis or might be exposed ti

KEY MITIGATION ACTIONS

& C ICAAP.

B . . intal lovels of
capital on botha current and forecast basis to suppont defivery of the Medium Term Plan(MTP), while
ensuring i i all times.

L testing analysi levels of capital of

i "

B Stress testingof creditportfolios.

The Group faces thisrigk fre Individual and eitheri
lending practices through Yy
KEY MITIGATIONACTIONS
| G g i i B appetite,
& Effect and risk
] ly ind roview y ics for ly
v . i o
related to high-infiati d
W Stresstestingof credit portfolios.
" Efecti -
procedures.
B Limitationof ize of total specific sector, product type and
/orgeographic location.
& Obtaining suitabl ecurity for loans tevant

DEFILITE 1
Rectrgting Groun 2uns

cort

WHERE TANDEM IS EXPOSED

Tandem facesthi

210m2et 1500 Gal o

ecteg tofa

g
KEY MITIGATIONACTIONS
W Ensuing i tand quality,
dy iod, whilst ensuring It forliquid assets.
B Dedicated Treasury itoring, pi ting
capabilities.
L Inst

y
Liquidity Cz




RISKREPO

CUTRITE N DEFINITIZM

of cetr Ment 1o SLSIomMers, Manae 2710L210 GO0 0D" 516 18G Gant oM fL M ECONCLCL fiR

<ol 035243 £ 1Q O™ BGUX"SE MOVEMES 1 I 401 O

nc /07 fa LRl COMIYY o avis.7eg - A LG 10 $ECONC 078’
2 a1 2g100F T 2

16 2" coneLet

WHERETANDEM IS EXPOSED WHERE TANDEM S BXPOSED :
. . formof raterisk o " N activities. AsaPRAandFCA d entity i pli isk. T y ich
. i i i | ise toConduct Risk.
KEY MITIGATION ACTIONS :
. | KEY MITIGATION ACTIONS
L] Interest Rate Risk olicy, t f U Rigk " T i " . . . o
. bVTre'asUN. oot . < thoiimpact o o changes to Tandem's ithir y/legal context.
9 0 2nts and theirimpa . & C i people, asses; training and T [ thelp meet ourtegal and
raterisk exposures. P X
N . N reguiatory commitments.
n ging t toensure these remainwithin Risk Appetite. ! " ; olicles/ ith
. > Y 3 .
! L] 0 bedding of the Risk withaf ustomer Outcomes.
B Robust policies, systemsand ! 1 s of he including:
] repor 1 onduct and Customer Outcomes. Regular mandatory employee
training and awareness programmes. )
& Learning mistakes lysis

'Strategy',&!Bus ess!M:o!del k‘

DI DO

Raq0f 0:308 07 MBLELOMELEIOMTE, Tt 2 e a0 g™ BCeeatR 07 13 202 0CeaL

§ 2a 11dL11€ DULS W
18 G CONI'G . 1€ 40 7 110+ 3 511G 00 5 G 070 R tnt1at 170015

tware o7 cyne’ /¢

QPLENH.

St T
) WHERE TANDEM IS EXPOSED

Tandemf: inthe d: y of:legal ivities; peop! i Tandem e n atility E le
security; cyber; i i ;and i cost il it costbasesand /of itie il nd
KEY MTGATIONACTIONS :

: : KEY MTGATIONACTIONS
[ ] d O MF, utliising inclpal of identify, assess, .

monitor and repost. ) : . L] P e iness plan, h i and

- i I Controltibrary and Risk and Contro! Self d ia KPls, reporting and g MP).

' Assessments). ' | W Ongoi i and Board

L] h i d Board-approved takenif

' f cont c tys ! ® Sue ing and sensith i

m  fcontrols, d s of jonal I L] ysi mpeti asakeyinpu :

|} i d - i ify thraats i bus plan.

trol f cyber disks. i ‘ [ ] ftherisks that c viaits p: andi iness, including the.

[} ishing resilient \gency h -up, recovery. of Sonduct and Risk Policy, minimum

and exit of fromTandem's panel of



RISKREPORT

CLOmIm b

MELO /1IN ToDLE e
sex0otec el MuteR

Lol go 3L
f corve
SR ORIt Mpact W st 12

MV N ENB0LI VG MELELON Y

0 5002

CHDOVECHIN™,

vana/or e yolexremec
MIEOFC OLG NS O

el y frenay

ielorg

WHERE TANDEMIS EXPOSED
he formof physical, risks for the Group.
KEY MITIGATIONACTIONS
" A i he Board has Tandem's existing
RiskManagement Framework.
B Oversight of ESG and Cli y the boar viathe
ESG C i nd Cli i he ESG C ise-Wide Risk.
] of P {ESG/C!
Scorecards.
" O of E!
L] of Tandem': d ug| ry TCFD reportie third
party limats i i carbon
and het. ay
" D of for prod d
party to mitigate greenwashing.

Key &
Emerging Risks

{ODLE 3NG 0°ONC'T ONSIRCaNED Ly & N0

KEY MITIGATIONACTIONS

a O i T inMarch20: toannual review.

B Important bush i ified insti i y
requirements.

- A including

L_Ie/ ionali Third Party f le thati Ish
supplierarrangements.

W dentified riat i i i ight andt
2ssUrance purposes.

ol Ly e

iran Lesiomigateancoravel

KEY MITIGATION ACTIONS

[] P yoer security nd i ithmaturity
assessed and understood.

- p-wide cyber securtyr hed

L i practices at customer

n " ity . N

[ ] pwid "

T




o

RISKR

= 'Regulator;(&ie'g'arl Risk | /

KT N

W for s on o =000
San040 Y10 IO CE CCTLELLA UD Yut O

=0,

KEY MITIGATIONACTIONS
®  TheBoard focuson 1 ofthe aing d

g Tandem’ i 0\ /1egal ‘
" & i inpeople, Ini d 1T to assess theimpact and help meet our legal and

regulatory commitments.
lices /
8 E Yy

relevantindustry bodies.

fr Rebﬁtatlonal Risk ¢

RO WAL

1010 ust

KEY MITIGATIONACTIONS
®  Robust i ith
[ ] tratogh prioi ithkey
L} i fig T
B Monitoring medla reporting.
[~

== =\

Integration Risk |

RATEDNALL

Te aegrat onof On oanG A 'QUEE (UL COL O 8EC 10 1E GILAMREG 00O UL 4G "SEL G107y 7 §x.
for 11206 0G LA Meralon 00 e .

KEY MITIGATIONACTIONS

n i (L i identi and
delivered, i i and Board oversight 0 y
across the Group.

B Regularreporting to the Board relating to th

™ ¢

' J

Consumer

Duty

The Consumer Duty represents the FCA's

ofits on
the firms it regulates to ensure the falr
treatment of consumers.

The Duty does not change the rules or
guidance containedwithinthe FCA
handbook, butd ignify ly shiftthe
expectations it places on firms and
specifically their Board's and Senior

g tin g customersreceive
fair outcomes by Introducing a new principle
of business and also based upon the four
outcomes of:

m Product & Service;

&  Price&Value;

®  CustomerUnderstanding; and
@ Customer Support

Inaddition to these, the FCA expects firms
amongst other things to identify areas of
possible customerharm and take proactive
action.

~

.f\_/

The final rules were published in July 2022,
and pliance with the ofthe
Duty come Into effect for existing and new
productsin july 2023, and for legacy / closed
productsin July 2024.

A gic programme: dearly
in2022 with progress towards
implementation for the July 2023 inittal
deadline well advanced and on track. Key
areasof focusinclude:

Product governance;

QOutcomes testing;

Customer communications;
Redevelopment of customer Mlinline
with consumer outcomes;

Evolution of committee reporting and
visibility around customer outcomes;
and

m  Enhancements and development of the
approach to vulnerable customers.
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Capital
Management

Tandem’s app! tocapiltal allow market particlpants to assess

Is driven by and inf yon that firm's capital, risk

requirements, while also taking into exposures and risk assessment process.
the y in These disclosures (known as Pillar 3

whichitoperates. disclosures) can be viewed on Tandem’s

website (www.tandem.co.uk).
TheGroup's principal objectives when

managing capital are to: The Group maintains an adequate capital
base withthe aim of supporting the

®  address the expectation of the development of the business and to ensure
regulators as well as shareholders and it meets the Total Capital Requirement at all
optimise business activities to ensure times. As aresult, Tandem maintains capital
retum on capital targets are achieved adequacyratios above minimum regulatory
though efficient capitalmanagement; requirements. The Group’s Individual

&  ensure that the Group holds sufficient regulated entitles complied with all of the
capltalto cater forunexpected losses externallyimposed capital requirements to
that may arise, to protect depositors which they are subject for the year ended

and thereby support the sustainability
of the Group through business ¢ycles:
and

& comply with capital supervisory
requirements andrelated regulations.

ThePRA supervises the Group andreceives
Information on the capital adequacy and sets
the Group's capltal requirements.

Thealm of the capital adequacy regime Isto
promote safety and soundness in the

financia! system. The Group completes an
annual self-assessment of risks known as the
Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment
Process (ICAAP'). The ICAAP Is reviewed by
the PRAwhich culminates in the regufator
settinga Total Capital Requirement onthe
level of capital the Groupis required to hold.
Tandem publishes a set of disclosures which

Independent
Auditors’

Report




INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

Independent auditors’ report
to the members of Tandem
Money Limited

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion

Inour opinion, y Limited's group “financial
statements”):

®  giveatrueand falrview of the state of the group'sand of the company's affairs as at 3) December 2022 and of
the group's profitand 1hegmup‘scashﬂowsfovmeyeanhenendsd;

™ ly Accepted ing Practi
(t Kinga 102 “The Financial Reporting Standard applicable inthe
UK fireland”, and nd

m ha iy of the Companies Act 2006.

Wehave audited the I , whi ise: Ce i nd

Company Financial 31December 2022; Cx i of

Other C I C Cash Flows, and C nd Company

Ch: inEquity for the year then ended; the vhichinclud the

significant accountingpolicigs.

Basis for opinion

Our Audit for i fu ial
ourreport. theaudit btained ind
provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

W ined ofth i i auditofthe
UK, includes the FRC's Ethical 3 fu d our other ethical

Conclusions relating to going concern

Basedon Identified ing to events or
that, i y i doubtonthegroup’s hw 's ability i
going f dofat lgsue.
that thedit * usa of the going
the

However, it i i hy
group” b s ability I i

Our il i e going I
sections ofthis report.

Reporting on other information

The other i £ 1w inth tha i "
auditors' report thereon. ibte forthe other lion. Our opini
theotheri ind we donot ditopi exceptto
§ het
[ auditof 1l our i the other i d, Indoing so,
conslderwhetherthe otheri ionit i iththe btained
dit, or i i it material
reqy thereisa il mi f the
amaterial the other ion. If we
! terial of thisotherir to repon thatfact. We have

nothing toreport based on these responsibilities.

With y 1t and Directors’ Report, we als w
UK Cs Act ded.

d f the audit, the C ACt2006 pont certain

Strateglc reportand Directors' Report

Inouropinion, k tal f the audit, th i i rtand
Directors’ Report for the year ended 31 December 20221: i withthe nd has been
Inlightof fthe g obtained inth of
the audit, wedid not fy any i and Directors’ Report.

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit

P fthe s forthe |
directors’
1} i i for thatthey give a trueand fair
view. T for Y i toenabl i
of C whether due to fraud or error.
assessing the group’s and the company’s ability to
going ing the going
basis of i Intend ] or

have norealistic alternative but todo 50.

Auditors’ responsibliities for the audit of the financial statements

Our object btal free from
material misstatement, whether dueto fraud or emor, and to i ditors’ report Includ opinion.
5@ hi 4 butisnot angudit
(UK)will slways detect amatarisl mi: whenit exists. and are
i falif, indivi in ¥ "
decisi users is of thesa
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withour ies, outlined above, to detect s inrespect of i including fraud. The

extent our i fraud, i i

B d 3 that

and torules of the Fir i nduct ly CFCA), rules of Authority

("PRA")and the extent towhich h ial, onthe fin;

Weat he onthe

Act2006 and UK W

of th ‘controls), and detarmined that the principal risks were related

to the potental for to. J 's ability i al
through lied i Audi bythe

engagement team included:

B Enquiri i i i nd
regulation and fraud;

L g key i i d PRA;

B C inthelr i in
particular| i prowisi " imp:

| I journal ! bysenior journals
posted account ions indicating @ higher of risk and post

close journal entrles.

Thereare i We ly instances
of ly related
fu Also, the risk of not d a i not

detecting one resulting fromerror, as fraud y
or flusi

A her ir theaudit of th he FRC'
www.fre.orq, i Ppart of our auditors’ report.

Useof thisreport

This leport, including the opinions, has by forand only for pany b
wlthcneptav!ofParﬂdcmmCompan?esAc(200&andfomoetmrpurpose.Wedonox.lngivingxhssecpinions.
accaptor, e for any other y Oth is raport is shy vy
hands|tmay ly prior consentinwriting.

Otherrequired reporting

Companies Act 2006 exception reporting

Underthe Cq Act2006 toreport to you if, in our opinion;
B weahavenotobtainedall i quil our audit; or
o d nparny, or Tour it have not
b
Y us;
a f directors’ ified by made; ot
B th pany notinagr i i
Weh, arising

MDA

Mike Wallace (Senlor Statutory Auditor)

for andon behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountantsand: Statutory Auditors
London

26 April 2023
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Consolidated Income Statement and Statement of
Other Comprehensive Income for the year ended 31

December 2022
Continuing Discontinued 2021
Operations Operations Total
£000 £'000 £'000
Interestincome >:94,634 20,397 1,029 21,426
Interest expense 3 12726107 (6.455) - (6.455)
NetInterest Income 't 68,5274 13,942 1,029 14,971
Fees and commissions income yood ’ - n N
Fees and commissions expense (288) (194) (482)
Net gains on derivatives and hedge
. . . 15 - ns
ineffectiveness
Other operating income ns - n8
Total Income 13,887 846 14,733
Administrative expenses 1:(5%,’{:7'8_)* (28,039) (852) (28,891)
Depreciation and amortisation ;&5;‘0;515)}‘ (766) - (766)
Operating Expenses 7 [i(s7,373)]  (28,805) (852) (29,657)
Provision for bad and doubtful debts 15 v(1§73§)" (1,023) (682) (1,705)
Gain/(loss) on sale of financial assets noE %1,470° - (569) (569)
Write-off of equity shares 18 1.7 X (1,000) - (1,000)
Loss on Operating Activities before k3
Amortisation of Goodwill and Intangible 3 (16,941) (1,257) (18,198)
Assets on Acquisition
Amortisation of goodwill and intangible B %
assets on acquisition 20 {729 (1,388) - (1.388)
Loss on Operating Activities before Tax E 2,35 j (18,329) (1.257) (19,586)
Tax credit onloss 12 177 - 177
Profit for the Year (18,152) (1,257) (19,409)
Other Comprehensive
Income/(Expense)
Deferred tax movement on items of
other comprehensive income/(expense) 12 azn B a77
Available for sale investments
- Fair value (loss)/gain on debt securities 52 - 52
- Fair value gain on equity shares 2N - 271
Total Comprehensive Profit for the Year (18,006) (1,257) (19,263)

Al current year results are from continuing operations.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

as at 31 December 2022
2022 | 2021
Note ! £'000 - £000
Assets . »
Cash and balances at central banks 13 679,659 . 360,378
Loans and advances to banks 14 ’ 42,218 ¢ 18,831
Loans and advances to customers 15 1,202,739 | 437,004
Debt securities 6 91,210 30,215
Derivatives held forrisk management 7. 29,592 . 2,358
Equity shares B . 2,309 : 1,970
Intangible assets 20 110,569 - 12,331
Tangible fixed assets 20 1020 16
Other assets 2 20,357 4,039
Prepayments and accruedincome 22 3,009 . 2,185
Total Assets -' 2,182,682 . 869,427
Liabilities !
Deposits by banks 23 . 43,496 39.9N
Customeraccounts 24 1,754,868 ‘ 77,161
Debt securitiesinissue 25 128,400 ¢ -
Derivatives held for risk management 17 . 809 89
Other liabilities 26 5,042 1,677
Accruals and deferredincome 27 - 5,012 ¢ 2,086
Provisions for liabilities 28 - 943
Total Liabilities i 1,937,627 815,927
Share Capital and Reserves » .
Called-up share capital 30 - 3029 915
Share premium account 30 396,092 . 210,671
Warrants 30 1,391 1,391
Otherreserves 30 - 6,522 . 5,464
Retained reserves 30 o (161,979) (164,941)
Shareholders' Funds including Non-Equity interests » 245,055 - 53,500
Total Liabilities and Equity X 2,182,682 ° 869,427
On behalf of the Board,
Alexander Mollart David McCarthy
Chief Executive Officer (Designate) Chief Financial Officer (Designate)
26 April 2023
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended 31 December 2022

Share Profit and
Called-up Premium Avalilable for Other Loss
Share Capital Account Warrants  Sale Reserve Reserves Account  Total Equity
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
i At 1January 2022 915 210,67 1,391 1,353 5,464 (166,294) - 53,500 !
! Profitfor theyear - - - - - 48 481’
: Gainrelatingto available for sale investments - - - n - - o
. Deferred tax on items of other comprehensive income - - - (85) - - (85)
: Total Comprehensive Profit for the Year - - - (74) - 481 407 .
b
' Sharesissued, net of expenses 214 185,421 - - - - 187,535
! Share-based payments - - - - 1,058 - 1,058 -
Capital contribution - - - - - 2,555 2,555
. As at 31 December 2022 3,029 396,092 1,391 1,279 6,522 (163,258) 245,055
At1January 2021 804 202,694 1,391 1,207 5,641 (146,885) 64,852
Loss fortheyear - - - - - (19,409) (19,409)
Gain relatingto available for sale investments - - - 323 - - 323
Deferred taxon items of other comprehensive income - - - (177) - - 177)
Total Comprehensive Loss for the Year - - - 146 - (19,409) (19,263)
Shares issued, net of expenses m 7,977 - - - - 8,088
Share-based payments - - - - (958) - (958)
Distributable reserves fromemployee benefit trusts - - - - 781 - 781
As at 31December 2021 915 210,671 1,391 1,353 5,464 (166,294) 53,500
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

for the year ended 31 December 2022

R

- 2022, 2021
Note ! £'000 ! £'000
r
Cash Flows from Operating Activities ! !
Loss on operating activities before tax % © {12,355) % (19,586)
;l:fnc;;ats;r;ntems included in loss on operating activities ; 26,288 ¢ 5126
Change in operating assets and liabilities i 598,512 ' 220,428
Net Cash Generated from Operating Activities 34 { 3 614,445 | 205,968
i !
Cash Flows from Investing Activities i }
Purchase of intangible assets % 979) ‘ (283)
Purchase of tangible assets ; .(455) § (84)
Subsidiary acquired (net of cash) 4 ﬁ - (M0,979) 1 -
Purchase of debt securities { (61,572) i (2,075)
Net Cash Used in Investing Activities 1 (173,985) i (2,442)
b |
Cash Flows from Financing Activities ! ‘E
Proceeds fromissuance of ordinary shares . 160,044 [ 8,088
Proceeds from capital contribution ; 2,555 -
Repayment of debt securities inissue H (260,391) -
Net Cash (Used in)/Generated From Financing Activities i . (97,792) ; 8,088
| L
NetIncrease in Cash and Cash Equivalents ' 342,668 | 21,614
i i
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 1 379,209 E 167,595
Cash and Cash Equivalents at the End of the Year 34 ; 721,877 | 379,209
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Company Statement of Financial Position

as at 31 December 2022
2021

Note £'000
Assets
Loans and advances to banks 14 997
Investments in subsidiaries 19 81,94
intangible assets 20 980
Tangible fixed assets 20 9
Other assets 21 277
Prepayments and accrued income ’ 22 2,152
Total Assets 86,438
Liabilities
Other liabilities 26 1,972
Accruals and deferred income 27 1,581
Provisions for liabilities 28 943
Total Liabilities 4,496
Share Capital and Reserves -
Called-up share capital 30 915
Share premium account 30 210,671
Warrants 30 1,391
Otherreserves : 30 5,464
Retainedreserves 30 i (17 (136,499)
Shareholders' Funds including Non-Equity Interests > e 4522874874 81,942
Total Liabilities and Equity fi . %31238:750.) 86,438

The Company’s Total Comprehensive Loss for the Year Ended 31 December 2022 was £44,603k
(2021. Comprehensive Loss of £22,409k).

On behalf of the Board,

Alexander Mollart . David McCarthy
Chief Executive Officer (Designate) -Chief Financial Officer (Designate)

26 April 2023



Company Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended 31 December 2022

Called-up Share Premium Other Profitand Loss
Share Capital Account Warrants Reserves Account Total Equity

“£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
. - 546477, h

! G W ey u._..«-,p
-Share-based payments’ &
. Capital contribution®

|.As'at 31 Decémber 2022

At 1January 2021 804 202,694 1,3N 5,641 (114,090) 96,440
Total comprehensive loss for the year - - - - (22,409) (22,409)
Sharesissued, net of expenses m 7,977 - - - 8,088
Share-based payments - - M (958) - (958)
Distributable reserves from employee benefit trusts - - - 781 - 781
Asat 31December2021 . 915 210,671 13N 5,464 (136,499) 81,942
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Notes to the Financiai Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2022

1.  Significant Accounting Policies

1.1. General Information

Tandem Money Limited (‘TML’" or ‘the Company’) together with its subsidiaries (‘the Group’) are private
companies, limited by shares and incorporated in the United Kingdom under the Companies Act. The
address of the registered office is givenon page 4.

1.2  Basis of Preparation

The Group and individual Financial Statements of TML have been prepared in compliance with United
Kingdom Accounting Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 102, ‘The Financial Reporting
Standard applicable in the United Kingdom and the Republic of Ireland’ ((FRS 102’) and the Companies Act
2006. The Company has taken advantage of the exemption in section 408 of the Companies Act from
presentingits individual profit and loss account.

The Financial Statements have been prepared ona going concernbasis, under the historical cost convention
as modified by the recognition of certain financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value.

The Financial Statements are prepared in sterling which is the functional currency of the Group and
rounded to the nearest thousand.

1.3 Going Concern

The consolidated and individual financial statements continue to be prepared on a going concern basis as
the Directors are satisfied that the Group and Company have the resources to continue in business for the
foreseeable future (which has been taken as 12 months from the date of approval of the financial
statements). In making this assessment, the Directors have considered various financial projections. Across
this range of projections, including a severe but plausible downside scenario, it has been concluded that no
material changesto the Group’s and Company’s activities will be required beyond a controlied and targeted
reduction of new lending in the severe but plausible downside scenario. Therefore, the Group and Company
can operate with adequate financial resources for the next 12 months, with both capital ratios and liquidity in
excess of minimum regulatory requirements. Further information is included within the Directors’ Report on
page 51.

1.4 Basis of Consolidation

The statutory consolidated Financial Statements comprise the Financial Statements of the Group and its
subsidiaries as at 31 December 2022. The subsidiaries are listed in Note 19. The Financial Statements of the
Group and its subsidiaries are prepared using consistent accounting policies.

In the Parent company Financial Statements investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
provision forimpairment.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date of their acquisition, being the date on which the Group
obtains control and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases. Controlis the power
to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. Where
the group owns less than 50% of the voting powers of an entity but controls the entity by virtue of an
agreement with other investors which give it control of the financial and operating policies of the entity, it
accounts for that entity as a subsidiary.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

1. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

1.4 Basis of Consolidation (continued)

Oplo Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries have been included in the Group Financial Statements using the
purchase method of accounting. Accordingly, the Group Income Statement and Statement of Cash Flows
include the results and cash flows of the Oplo entities for the period fromits acquisition on 24 January 2022.
The purchase consideration has been allocated to the assets and liabilities on the basis of fair value at the
acquisition date.

Allintra-Group balances, transactions, income and expenses are eliminated on consolidation.
Special Purpose Entities (‘SPEs’)

The Group has consolidated SPEs established for the securitisation of certain financial assets. The Group
does not hold voting rights over these entities but is deemed to have control on the basis that the financial
and operating decisions are made by the Group.

The Group has also established and is the sponsoring entity of two employee benefit trusts (EBT’) that meet
the definition of an intermediate payment arrangement. Notwithstanding the legal duties of the trustees,
the Group considers that it has ‘de facto’ control of these entities and as an intermediate payment
arrangement, the assets and liabilities are accounted for by the Company (the sponsoring entity) as an
extension of its own business. The Company’s equity instruments held by an EBT are accounted for as if they
were the Company’s own equity and are treated as treasury shares.

1.5 Significant Accounting Estimates and Judgements

The preparation of Financial Statements requires management to make estimates and judgements about
both current and future conditions. It also requires management to exercise its judgementin the process of
applying accounting policies. As a resuit of the uncertainty and subjectivity inherent in these estimates and
judgements, itis possible that actual outcomes differ from those expected by management.

Significant accounting estimates and judgements are disclosed within the note to which they relate:

o Deferred TaxAssets - Note 12
¢ Impairment Losses on Loans and Advances to Customers - Note 15
e Goodwill and Intangible Assets - Note 20

1.6 Netinterestincome

Interestincome and expense are recognised in the Income Statement for all financial instruments measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts the expected future cash flows over the expected life of the financial instrument to the net
carrying amount. This calculation takes into account all amounts that are integral to the yield. Cash flows are
estimated considering all contractual terms of the financial asset or liability but does not consider future
credit losses.

81



Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

1. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

1.7 Feesand Commissions

Fees and commissions that are not integral to the effective interest rate calculation are
recognised in the Income Statement as services are provided, where there is no obligation to
provide any ongoing services as aresult.

1.8 Share-basedIincentive Schemes
The Company provides share-based payment arrangements to certain employees.

Equity-settied arrangements are measured at fair value (excluding the effect of non-market
based vesting conditions) at the date of grant. The fair value is expensed on a straight-line basis
over the vesting period, with a corresponding increase in equity. The amount recognised as an
expense is adjusted toreflect the actual number of shares or options that will vest.

There are shares in relation to an equity-settled arrangement held in an EBT which jointly own the
shares with the participant. As a special purpose entity that is classified as an intermediary
payment arrangement, the EBTs are accounted for as an extension of TML's business and
consolidatedin the results of TML. See Note 1.4 Basis of Consolidation for further detail.

The Company also has share-based payment arrangements that are classified as cash-settled.
The fair value (excluding the effect of non-market based vesting conditions) is measured at each
reporting date (annually) and expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, with a
corresponding increase in liabilities. As with the equity-settled arrangements, the amount
recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of shares or options that will
vest and the current proportion of the vesting period.

1.9 OperatinglLeases

Leases that do not transfer the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as operating leases.
Payments under operating leases are charged to the Income Statement on a straight-line basis
over the lease term.

1.10 Adjusted Measures "

Adjusted measures exclude amortisation of goodwill and intangible assets on acquisition to
present the performance of the Group’s acquired businesses consistent with its other
businesses. The separate reporting of these items helps give an indication of the Group’s
underlying performance.

1.11 Taxation

Taxisrecognisedinthe Income Statement, except that a charge attributable to anitem ofincome
and expense recognised as other comprehensive income or to an item recognised directly in
equity is also recognised in Other Comprehensive Income or directly in equity respectively.

Current or deferred taxation assets and liabilities are not discounted.
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for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

1.  Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

1.11 Taxation (continued)

(i) Current Tax

Currenttaxis the amount of income tax payable in respect of taxable profit for the year or prior years. The tax
charge is calculated on the basis of tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the reporting date.

(ii) Deferred Tax

Deferred tax arises from timing differences that are differences between taxable profits and total
comprehensive income as stated in the Financial Statements. These timing differences arise from the
inclusion of income and expenses in tax assessments in periods different from those in which they are
recognised in the financial statements.

Deferred tax is recognised on all timing differences at the reporting date. Unrelieved tax losses and other
deferred tax assets are only recognised when it is probable that they will be recovered against the reversal
of deferred tax liabilities or other future taxable profits.

Deferred income taxis calculated using taxrates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted
at the reporting date and are expected to apply on the reversal of the timing difference.

1.12 Cash and Balances at Central Banks

Cash and balances at central banks in the Statement of Financial Position comprise of cash and balances at
central banks which may be withdrawn without notice.

1.13 Financial Instruments Recognition and De-recognition

The Group has chosen to apply the recognition and de-recognition provisions of IAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, as permitted per Section11.2 of FRS102.

(1) Recognition

All financial assets and liabilities are initially recognised on the date the Group becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument.

(il) De-recognition

Financial assets are derecognised when, and only when, contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
have expired or have been transferred.

An asset is transferred if either the entity has transferred the contractual rights to receive the cash flows, or
the Group has retained the contractual rights to receive the cash flows from the asset, but has assumed a
contractual obligation to pass those cash flows on under an arrangement that meets the following three
conditions:

- the Group has no obligation to pay amounts to the eventual recipient unless it collects equivalent
amounts on the original asset;

- the Group is prohibited from selling or pledging the original asset (other than as security to the
eventual recipient); and

- the Group has an obligation to remit those cash flows without material delay
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for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

1.  Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

1.13 Financial Instruments Recognition and De-recognition (continued)

(li) De-recognition (continued)

Once the Group has determined that the asset has been transferred, it then determines whether ornot it has
transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset. If substantially all the risks and
rewards have been transferred, the assetis derecognised. If substantially all the risks and rewards have been
retained, derecognition of the asset is precluded.

If the Group has neither retained nor transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset, then
the Group assesses whether it has relinquished control of the asset or not. if the Group does not control the
asset thenthe assetis derecognised; however if the Group has retained control of the asset, then the Group
continues to recognise the asset to the extent to which it has a continuing involvement in the asset.

Financial liabilities are derecognised only when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged,
cancelled or expires.

1.14 Financial Instruments Classification and Measurement

The Group has chosen to apply the classification and measurement provisions of IAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, as permitted per Section 11.2 of FRS 102.

(i) Financlal Assets
Loans and Recelvables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not
quoted in an active market and the Group does not intend to sellimmediately or in the near term. These are
initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs that are directly attributable to the financial asset.
Subsequently they are held at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, less provision for
impairment. Loans and receivables predominantly comprise loans and advances to customers and loans
and advance to banks.

Avallable for Sale

These comprise debt securities as well as equity shares. They are initially measured at fair value plus
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the financial asset. Subsequently, they are measured at fair
value based on current quoted prices in active markets. Forinvestments not traded in an active market, the
fair value is determined using appropriate valuation techniques. Valuation techniques include the
discounted cash flow method, comparison with similar instruments for which market observable prices
exist, option pricing models and other relevant valuation models.

Available for sale financial assets are those non-derivative financial assets that are designated as available
for sale or are not classified as (a) loans and receivables, (b) held-to-maturity investments or (c) financial
assets at fair value through profit orloss.

Interestincomeis recognisedin the Income Statement using the effective interest rate method. impairment
losses are recognised in the Income Statement. Other fair value changes are recognised in Other
Comprehensive Income and presented as shareholders’ equity in the Balance Sheet. On disposal, the gain
orloss accumulated in equity is reclassified to the Income Statement.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

1.  Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

1.14 Financial Instruments Classification and Measurement (continued)
Falr Value Through Profit or Loss

For certainloans and advances and customer accounts with fixed rates of interest, interest rate swaps have
been acquired with the intention of significantly reducing interest rate risk. See Note 5. The derivatives are
classified at fair value through profit or loss. All derivative instruments are initially measured at fair value on
the contract date and are also measured at fair value at subsequent reporting dates. Changesin fair value of
any derivative instruments are recognised immediately in the Income Statement.

(i) Financial Liabilities

Financial liabilities are contractual obligations to deliver cash or another financial asset. All financial liabilities
(other than derivatives) are recognised initially at fair value (net of directly attributable transaction costs) and
are subsequently measured at amortised cost. Financial liabilities at amortised cost include deposits from
customers and intercompany as well as subordinated loans.

1.15 Impairment of Financial Assets

The Group assesses at each reporting date its financial assets not at fair value through profit or loss as to
whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset is impaired. If any such indication exists the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the asset versus the exposure.

Impairment losses are recognised in the Income Statement and measured as the difference between the
asset's carrying value and the present value of estimated cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have
not beenincurred), discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate.

(i) Loans and Advances

impairment provisions are made against individual loans when recovery is doubtful, and adjusted on an
ongoing basis when additional information is available, including the period leading up to portfolio sale
events. For loans that are not considered to be individually impaired, a collective impairment assessment is
performed to reflect the estimated amount of losses incurred on a collective basis but have yet to be
individually identified. The methodology uses a statistical model which looks at the likelihood of balances
moving into arrears status within a defined period, multiplying the probability of default (‘PD’) by the loss
given default (‘(LGD’) and then applying an emergence period. Usually this would be calculated by looking at
historical loss experience updated to reflect current economic conditions. Where the Group’s portfolios of
assets are predominantly made up of relatively new loans with limited arrears data, the Group has also
looked at other relevant external data to calculate its collective provision. The methodology and
assumptions used are regularly reviewed to reduce any differences between estimates and actual results
and to refine the methodology as more appropriate data becomes available.

The aggregate impairment provisions which are made during the period (less amounts released and
recoveries of bad debts previously written-off) are charged against operating profit and are deducted from
loans and advances to customers. Loans and advances to customers are written-off when there is no
realistic prospect of recovery.
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1.  Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

1.15 Impairment of Financial Assets (continued)
(i) Loans and Advances (continued)

Following the acquisition of GDFC Assets Limited and the Green Deal Plans unsecured lending portfolio, an
additional provision was recognised to provide for a group of loans with a higher potential of conduct claims
(originated pre-2016). The provision is calculated based on historical complaint acceptance rates,
expected complaint flows and reduction value in claim amounts.

TBL acquired beneficial ownership of a portfolio of loan accounts from Honeycomb Finance Limited (‘HFL’)
in August 2020. Some of this portfolio of accounts are undergoing review due to a larger than expected
number of complaints with the Financial Ombudsman Service. A provision has beenraised to cover potential
redress pending conclusion of this review, with any payments expected to be managed on a case by case
basis.

(i) Financial Assets Classifled as Avallable for Sale

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence that an available for sale
financial asset is impaired. In addition to the criteria for loans and advances, the assessment invoives
reviewing the financial circumstances (including credit worthiness), assessing the future cash flows
expected to be realised and, in the case of equity shares, considering whether there has been a significant
or prolonged decline in the fair value of the security below its cost.

Impairment losses on available for sale financial assets are recognised by reclassifying the losses
accumulated inthe available for sale reserve in equity to profit orloss. The cumulative loss that is reclassified
from equity to profit or loss is the difference between the acquisition cost, net of any principal repayment
and amortisation, and the current fair value, less any impairment loss previously recognised in profit or loss.

1.16 Securitisation Transactions

The Group has securitised certain loans in Tandem Home Loans Limited by the transfer of the loans to SPEs
controlled by the Group. The securitisation supports the issuance of debt by the SPEs to investors who gain
the security of the cash flows from the securitised loans. The Group continues to recognise the loans onits
own balance sheet after the transfer because it retains the risks and rewards of ownership through the
contractual arrangements with the SPEs. The proceeds received from the transfer are accounted for as a
deemed loan repayable to the SPEs.

1.17 Fair Value Measurement

Allfinancial instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the date of initial recognition and, depending
on the classification of the asset or liability, may continue to be held at fair value either through Income
Statement or Other Comprehensive Income. The fair value of a financial instrument is the price that would be
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at
the measurement date.

When independent prices are not available or if the market for a financial instrument is not active, fair values
are determined by using valuation techniques. These may refer to observable market data, comparison with
similar instruments where market observable prices exist, discounted cash flow analysis, option pricing
models and other valuation techniques commonly used by market participants.
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1. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

1.17 Fair Value Measurement (continued)

However, some of the inputs to the techniques may be based on unobservable data(e.g. in case of unlisted
securities) if there is minimal or no current market data available, in which case valuation adjustments are
done to reflect uncertainties in fair values resuiting from lack of market inputs.

1.18 Derivative Financial Instruments

The Group has entered into derivative transactions for the purpose of reducing exposures to fluctuations in
interest rates. Derivatives are carried at fair value with movements in fair values recorded in the profit orloss.
Derivative financial instruments are principally valued by discounted cash flow models using yield curves
that are based on observable market data as well as valuations obtained from counterparties. Asthe Group’s
derivatives are covered by master netting agreements with the Group's counterparties, with any net
exposures then being further covered by the payment or receipt of periodic cash margins, the Group has
used a risk-free discount rate for the determination of their fair values.

All derivatives are classified as assets where the fair value is positive and liabilities where the fair value is
negative. Where cash collateral is given to counterparties to mitigate the risk inherent in amounts due from
the Group, it is included in loans and advances to banks. Where cash collateral is received from
counterparties to mitigate the risk inherent in amounts due from the counterparty, it is included in deposits
by banks.

1.19 Hedge Accounting

The Group designates certain derivatives held for risk management as hedging instruments in qualifying
hedge relationships.

At the inception of the hedge relationship, the entity documents the economic relationship between the
hedginginstrument and the hedged item, along with its risk management objectives and clear identification
of the risk in the hedged item that is being hedged. In designating financial instruments as qualifying hedge
relationships, the Group has determined that it expects the hedge to be highly effective over the life of the
hedging instrument. This is assessed on an ongoing basis during the period for which the hedge is
designated.

Fair Value Hedge Accounting for Portfolio Hedges of Interest Rate Risk

The Group applies fair value hedge accounting for a portfolio hedge of interest rate risk by identifying
portfolios with similar repricing characteristics and whose interest rate risk it aims to hedge. The portfolios
comprise assets and liabilities. The Group then analyses each portfolio into repricing time periods based on
expected repricing dates, by scheduling cash flows into the periods in which they are expected to occur.
Using this analysis, the Group designates as the hedged item, an amount from each portfolio that it wishes
to hedge.

Provided that the hedge has beenhighly effective, changesin the fair value of derivatives are recordedin the
Income Statement together with the changes in the fair value of the hedged items that are attributable to
the hedgedrisk.

If the hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, changesin the fair value of the hedged item
attributable to the hedged risk are nolonger recognised in the Income Statement. For the portfolio hedged
items, the cumulative adjustment is amortised to the income Statement using the straight-line method over
the period to maturity.
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1.  Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

1.20 Business Combinations and Goodwiill
Business combinations are accounted for by applying the purchase method.

The cost of a business combination is the fair value of the consideration given, liabilities incurred
or assumed and of equity instruments issued plus the costs directly attributable to the business
combination.

On acquisition of a business, fair values are attributed to the identifiable assets and liabilities
unless the fair value cannot be measured reliably, in which case the value is incorporated in
goodwill. Intangible assets are only recognised separately from goodwill where they are
separable and arise from contractual or other legal rights.

Goodwillrecognised represents the excess of the fair value and directly attributable costs of the
purchase consideration over the fair values to the Group’s interest in the identifiable net assets
and liabilities.

Onacaquisition, goodwillis allocated to CGU’s that are expected to benefit from the combination.

Goodwill is amortised over its expected useful life which is estimated to be 10 years. Goodwill is
assessed forimpairment when there are indicators of impairment and any impairment is charged
tothe Income Statement. No reversals of impairment are recognised.

1.21 Iinvestmentin Subsidiaries

Investment in subsidiaries are held at cost less any accumulated impairment losses net of any
impairment loss reversals.

1.22 Intangible Assets

Intangible assets are identifiable assets controlled by the Group and from which it expects to
derive future economic benefits, and which have no physical substance.

Intangible assets that are acquired or built are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation is recognised on a straight-line basis over the
assets’ estimated useful lives, and recorded within operating expenses in the Income Statement
once the asset is available for use. The estimated useful life and amortisation method are
reviewed at the end of each financial year, with the effect of any changes in estimate being
accounted for on a prospective basis. The useful life has been assessed based on either the
length of the licence or expected code obsolescence. The useful life for each class of intangible
assetis asfollows:

Third party software licences - Betweenland 10 years
Software development costs - Between 2 and 4 years
Regulatorylicences - 10 years



Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

1.  Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

1.22 Intangible Assets (continued)

Software development costs that are directly attributable to the design and testing of
identifiable and unique software products controlled by the Group are recognised as intangible
assets when the following criteria are met: -

- itistechnically feasible to complete the software so that it will be available foruse;
- Managementintends to complete the software and use or sellit;
- thereis an ability to use or sell the software;

- it can be demonstrated how the software will generate probable future economic
benefits;

- adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to
use or sell the software are available; and

- the expenditure attributable to the software during its development can be reliably
measured

Research and development expenditure that do not meet these criteria above are recognised as
expenses as incurred. Development costs previously recognlsed as an expense are not
recognised as an assetin a subsequentyear.

1.23 Tangible Fixed Assets

Items of property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable
tothe cost of the assets.

Depreciationis provided on all property, plant and equipment, and calculated using the straight-
line method to allocate their cost, net of residual values, over their estimated useful lives, as
follows:

Leasehold improvements - -4years
Fixtures and fittings - 4years
Office and IT equipment - 4years
Vehicles : - 4 years
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1.  Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

1.24 Impairment of Non-Financial Assets

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there are any indicators of impairment. If any
such indication exists the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the asset as well as
assesses the remaining useful life and residual value. If it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of the individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-
generating unit is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. If the recoverable
amount is less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is impaired and it is
reducedtoits recoverable amount through animpairmentin the Income Statement.

If an impairment loss is subsequently reversed, the carrying amount of the asset (or the asset’s
cash generating unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but only to
the extent that the revised carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined (net of depreciation or amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised
in previous years. Areversal of animpairment loss is recognised in the Income Statement.

1.25 Provisions for Liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the following criteria are met:
- the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events;
- itisprobable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and
- the amount of the obligation can be estimatedreliably

In particular:

- restructuringprovisions are recognised when the Group has a detailed, formalplan for the
restructuring and has raised a valid expectation in those affected by either starting to
implement the plan or announcingits main features to those affected and therefore has a
legal or constructive obligation to carry out the restructuring

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to
settle the obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to
passage of time isrecognised as afinance cost.

1.26 Share Capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
ordinary shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.
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2. Interest income

2022 2021
Group £'000 £000
Interest Income on:
- Cash and balances at central banks 4,468 234
- Loans and advances to banks 156 1
- Loans and advances to customers 87,51 21,267
- Debt securities 1,293 69
Net interestincome/(expense) oninterest rate swaps hedging 1.206 (145)
loans and advances to customers !
94,634 21,426
3. InterestExpense
. 2022 2021
Group £'000 £'000
Interest Expense on:
- Deposits by banks 657 45
- Customer accounts 18,689 6,430
- Debt securitiesinissue ] 6,491 -
- Other 202 -
Netinterest expense/(income) oninterest rate swaps hedging 68 20)
customer accounts
26,107 6,455
4. Feesand Commission
2022 2021
Group £'000 £'000
Income
Servicing fees received 224 -
Credit card - other feeincome - n
224 n
Expense
Servicing fees paid 181 315
Performance fees - 167
181 482

N
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for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

5. Net Gains onDerivatives and Hedge Ineffectiveness

2022 2021
Group £'000 £'000
Net gain on derivatives not in a hedging relationship 1,434 78
Net gain from hedge ineffectiveness 982 37
2,416 15

Net gain from hedge ineffectiveness:
Gain on hedging instruments 26,477 2,295
Loss onhedgeditems (25,495) (2,258)
982 37

6. Other Operating Income
2022 2021
Group £'000 £'000
Visa Inc. shares dividend income 26 23
Otherincome - 95
26 118
7. Operating Expenses

2022 2021
Group £'000 £000
Staff costs 32,659 14,559
Amortisation of intangible assets 1,520 655
Write off of intangible assets 58 -
App costs 64 62
Credit card costs - 852
ITcosts 7,582 4,956
Rent 1,121 1,09
Depreciation 355 m
Fees payable to the Group's auditors 1,183 974
Other administrative costs 12,831 6,397
57,373 29,657
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8. Auditors’ Remuneration

Group 2022 .2021
£'000 £'000

Audit of the Group's Financial Statements 1,183 932
Non-audit services - 42
1,183 974

The fees payable for the audit of the Group's Financial Statements includes £970k in relation to
the audit of the Company'’s subsidiaries (2021: £720k). Other services provided during the prior
year by the Group’s auditors relate to the audit of regulatory reporting submissions.

9. Employees

2022 2021

Group £'000 £000
Wages and salaries 27,435 12,579
Social security costs 2,925 1,387
Pension costs 522 . 355
Share-based payments 1,294 (2)
Other staff costs 483 240
32,659 14,559

The average number of employees during the year, including Directors, was 472 (2021: 181)

10. Directors’ Remuneration

2022 2021
Total Directors’ Emoluments £'000 £'000
Remuneration 1,336 1,051
Compensation for loss of office 203 76
Pension contributions 7 17
1,546 1,144

Highest Paid Director Emoluments
Remuneration 350 225
Compensation for loss of office 203 -
553 225

During the year, 3 Directors were participants in the Group’s long-term share incentive schemes
(2021: 2). 31.0k share-based payment awards were issued to Directors in 2022 (2021: 7,215k), all
of whichwere equity settled share-based payment awards (2021: 2,515k). No Directors exercised
share options in the parent’s shares during the year (2021: nil). Further details of the relevant
incentive plans are outlinedin Note 32.
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1. Gain/(Loss) on Sale of Financial Assets

2022 2021
Group £'000 £000
Gain/(loss) on sale of loan portfolios 1,719 (569)
Loss on sale of debt securities (249) -
1,470 (569)
12. Taxation
Group 2022 2021
The taxation charge based on the loss for the year comprises: £'000 £000
Current tax;
UK corporation tax 8 . -
Adjustments inrespect of prioryears 77 -
Total current tax 85 -
Deferred tax:
Currentyear (12,874) a77)
Adjustments in respect of prioryears (47) -
Total deferred tax (12,921) a77)
Total tax credit relating to comprehensive income (12,836) a77)
Total tax charge relating to other comprehensive income 85 177
2022 2021
Group £000 £000
Loss on ordinary activities before taxation (12,355) (19,586)
Loss on ordinary activities before taxation muitiplied by the (2,347) 3.721)
standard rate of corporation tax of 19.0% (2020:19.0%) ! !
Adjustmentsin respect of prioryears 30 -
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 1,399 238
Income not taxable (41) (29)
Utilisation of unrecognised tax losses - (77)
Deferred tax asset (recognised)/not recognised M,774) 3,512
Rate effects {(103) -
Current tax credit for the year (12,836) (177)
19% 19%

Standard rate of corporation tax:
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12. Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax assets not recognised 2022 2021

£000 £'000

Gross Tax Gross Tax

Amount Effected Amount Effected

Taxlosses 109,774 27,443 159,148 39,787

Fixed assets 1,260 315 1675 419
Analysis of deferred tax asset / (liability) 2022 2021
£'000 £'000
Losses 13,814 809
Short-term timing differences (86%9) (828)
Fixed assets 174 19
Total Deferred tax asset / (liability) 13,119 -

On 17 October 2022, the Chancellor of the Exchequer confirmed that the UK corporation tax rate will
increase to 25% from 1 April 2023. On 17 November 2022 it was confirmed that the previously enacted
reduction in Banking Surcharge to 3%, with an allowance of £100m, would proceed, also from 1 April 2023.
These enacted taxrates have been used to determine the deferred tax balances as at 31 December 2022.

The Group has recognised a deferred tax asset in respect of future taxable profits for the first time this year.
The acquisition of Oplo (refer to Note 41 Business Combinations) has significantly changed the profile of the
Group, as it now has, for the first time as a result of the acquisition, aggregate taxable profits. Prior to the
acquisition Oplo had an established history of generating sustainable taxable profits, and this is expected
to continue following the acquisition by Tandem, particularly given this will give it greater access to capital.
Tandem has used the board approved 5-year Medium Term Plan ('MTP’) as a starting point for the calculation
noting this is consistent with the forecast used when carrying out the going concern review.

Based on the MTP, post April 2017 losses will be utilised over approximately the next 5 years. However, when
assessing how much deferred tax asset to recognise management also reviewed plausible downside
scenarios (including but not limited to removing future tier 2 capital injections as well as 25bp thinner loan
spreads) and in doing so the forecast remains profitable but reduced. Management have therefore applied
a probability weighting to the forecast profits for future years to reflect that the forecast is inherently
sensitive to the assumptions which underpin it, including macroeconomic conditions and is dependent on
the Group’s ability to successfully execute its strategy. Significant judgement is applied when determining
the probability weightings and any change in these weightings can alter the expected utilisation of the
deferred tax asset significantly. A10% increase/decrease in each year’s probability weighting over the next
5years wouldresultin a £1,585k increase/£1,585k decrease in deferred tax asset recognition.
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13. Cashand Balances at Central Banks

2022 2021

Group £'000 £'000
Bank of England Reserve Account 679,659 360,378

14. Loans and Advances to Banks

2022 2021

Group £'000 £'000
Repayable on demand 41,14 18,331
Encumbered cash 1,104 500
42,218 18,831

Encumbered cash is cash committed to banks for collateral so is repayable in accordance with the original
contract terms which can vary based on circumstance. The encumbered cash balance consists of collateral
relating to derivative instruments of £1,104k (2021: £500k) and is included in cash and cash equivalents.
Referto Note 36.2 for further details.

2022 2021
Company £'000 £000
Repayable on demand 1,480 997
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15. Loans and Advances to Customers

2022 2021
Group £'000 £'000
Gross loans and advances to customers 1,260,859 445,076
Provision forimpairment (30,222) (5,834)
Fair value adjustment for portfolio hedged risk (27,898) (2,238)
1,202,739 437,004

Remaining maturity:
Repayable on demand 7,561 13,966
3 months orless 17,047 12,566
Between 3 months and 1year 51,148 31,829
Betweenlyearand 5years 398,755 175,757
Over5years 786,348 210,958
1,260,859 445,076

The Group’s gross lending exposure before deduction of impairment provisions is analysed below:

2022 2021

£'000 £'000

Secured lending 826,075 262,182
Unsecured lending 434,784 182,894
1,260,859 445,076

9% %

Secured lending 66 59
Unsecuredlending 34 41
100 100
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for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

15. Loans and Advances to Customers (continued)

Year ended 31 December 2022
Opening balance

Provisions on acquired portfolios
Provisions on sold portfolios

New impairment provisions less releases
Amounts transferred to write-offs
Closing balance

Gross amount of loans individually determined to
be impaired, before deducting any individually
assessed impairment allowance

Year ended 31 December 2021

Opening balance

Provisions on sold portfolios

New impairment provisions less releases
Amounts transferred to write-offs
Closing balance

Gross amount of loans individually determined to
be impaired, before deducting any individually
assessed impairment allowance

Areconciliation for bad and doubtful debts per the Income Statement is set out below:

Provisions raised/(released)
Write-offs
Recoveries of amounts previously written-off

Secured Unsecured
lending lending Total
£'000 £'000 £'000
48 5,786 5,834
11,126 15,218 26,344
- (10,914) (10,914)
2,558 13,457 16,015
(721) (6,336) (7,057)
13,011 17,211 30,222
29,619 28,252 57.87N
Secured Unsecured
lending lending Total
£000 £000 £000
- 1413 14,13
- (7,158) (7,158)
48 1,657 1,705
- (2,826) (2,826)
48 5,786 5,834
- 8,443 8,443
2022 2021
£'000 £000
8,958 (1121
7,057 2,867
(280) (41)
15,735 1,705

Provision for bad and doubtful debts perincome Statement
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for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

15. Loans and Advances to Customers (continued)

The allowance for impairment losses on loans and receivables is Management’s best estimate of losses
incurred in the portfolio at the Balance Sheet date. In determining the required level of impairment
provisions, the Group uses the output from statistical models. Management judgementis therefore required
to assess the robustness of the outputs from these models and where necessary, make appropriate
adjustments. The impairment allowances are made up of two components, those determined individually
against specific assets and those determined collectively. See Note 1.15 forimpairment of Financial Assets.
For further detail and sensitivity analysis refer to Note 36.1.

- Individual

Individualimpairment allowances are established against the Group’s individually significant financial assets
that are deemed by Management to be impaired. in particular, the Group's first charge mortgage portfolio
is reviewed on a case by case basis to determine whether recovery is doubtful. Judgement is required by
Management to assess matters such as the financial status of the customer and the realisable value of the
security held. The actual amount of the future cash flows and their timing may differ from the assumptions
made for the purposes of determining the impairment allowances and consequently there may be
adjustmentsto these allowances over time as the circumstances of the customerbecome clearer. The gross
loans and advances to customers assessed individually is £227,468k (2021: £262,182k) and have an
impairment allowance of £nil (2021: £nil).

- Collective

All financial assets that are not found to be individually impaired are collectively assessed for impairment.
Collective impairment aliowances are generally established for the smaller balance homogenous portfolios
(i.e. the Group’s unsecured retail and second charge mortgage portfolios). The collective impairment
allowance is subject to estimation uncertainty and in particular judgement is required to determine the
methodology and assumptions used to calculate the provision, taking into account data from the portfolio
such as outcome period and levels of arrears, all of which are sensitive to changes in economic and credit
conditions (including the interdependency of unemployment rates, interest rates, borrowers’ behaviour and
consumer bankruptcy trends).

A financial asset or group of assets is impaired, and impairment losses are recognised, only if there is
objective evidence as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset.

Inaddition, a collective unidentified impairment provisionis made forloanlosses thathave beenincurred but
have not been separately identified at the Balance Sheet date. The provision is sensitive to changes in the
time between the loss event and the date the impairment is specifically identified (the emergence period).
Management use judgement when determining the collective unidentified impairment provision,
considering data from the portfolio such as the emergence period and the outcome period all of which are
sensitive to changes in economic and credit conditions.

Following the adverse cost of living conditions taking effect in 2022, management has recognised an
additional impairment provision of £714k. This additional impairment provision was calculated by stressing
probability of default assumptions above what has been observed over the past 12 months to capture the
recent financial difficulties that some customers may be facing prior to the end of 2022.

The gross loans and advances to customers assessed collectively is £1,033,391k (2021: £182,894k) and have
animpairment allowance of £30,222k (2021 £5,834k).
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15. Loans and Advances to Customers (continued)

- Conduct Claim

Following the acquisition of GDFC Assets Limited and the Green Deal Plans unsecured lending portfolio, an
additional provision was recognised to provide for a group of loans with a higher potential of conduct claims
(originated pre-2016). The provision is calculated based on historical complaint acceptance rates,
expected complaint flows and reduction value in claim amounts. in terms of the potential to make a
contractual recovery in respect of such claims, management has applied judgement with regards to its
interpretation of the likelihood of success in such arecovery.

16. Debt Securities

2022 2021
Group £'000 £'000
United Kingdom Government 19,960 5,078
Supranational Financial Institutions . 30,279 25,137
European Financial Institutions 9,829 -
United Kingdom Financial Institutions 31,142 -
91,210 30,215

Debt securities held for liquidity purposes are classified as available for sale assets at market value.
2022 2021
Remaining Maturity £'000 £'000
Maturing in 3 months or less 14,963 -
Maturing between 3 months and 1year 19,834 5,078
Maturing between1and Syears 56,413 25,137
91,210 30,215

17. Derivatives held for Risk Management

2022 2021
Group £'000 £'000
Assets 29,592 2,358
Liabilities (809) (89)

As part of its risk management strategy, the Group holds interest rate swaps to hedge its interest rate risk
arising from fixed rate loans and advances to customers and customer accounts. Theinterestrate swaps are
valued using a discount curve based on the Sterling Overnight Index Average Rate ( SONIA"). During the year,
the Group's predominantly pay fixed/receive SONIA interest rate swap portfolio saw significant favourable
mark to market increases. This was due to increased forward swap rates resulting from interest rate rises by
the Bank of England to counter inflation.

The Group applies fair value hedge accounting for a portfolio hedge of interest rate risk by identifying
portfolios with similar repricing characteristics. The portfolios comprise assets and liabilities. The Group then
analyses each portfolio into repricing time periods based on expected repricing dates, by scheduling cash
flows into the periods in which they are expected to occur.
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17. Derivatives held for Risk Management (continued)

Using this analysis, the Group designates as the hedged item, an amount of the assets and liabilities from
each portfolio that it wishes to hedge. All derivatives that would otherwise be affected by the amendments
to IAS 39 made by the International Accounting Standards Board (‘IASB’) in their Phase 1IBOR reliefs to
mitigate risks on hedge accounting arising from uncertainty around transition from IBOR to new benchmark
interest rates, maturedin 2021 and as such are not impacted.

18. Equity Shares

2022 2021
Group £'000 £'000
Visainc. 2,309 1,970

Equity shares are classified as available for sale financial assets and measured at fair value.

The shares in Visa Inc. consist of series A and B Convertible Preference stock and the fair value reflects a
variety of conditions and provisions including a discount for the lack of marketability and litigationrisk. There
has been anincrease in fair value of £339k recognisedin other comprehensive income during the year (2021:
£27k). The total dividendincome recognised inthe yearinrelationto the Visa Inc. sharesis £26k (2021: £23k).

On 16 August 2021, Hiber Energy Limited entered administration. As a result, animpairment of £1,000k was
recognised in profit and loss in 2021, reducing the carrying value to zero. Subsequently, the investment was
written-off at the end of 2021 as no further prospect of recovery was identified.

19. Investmentsin Subsidiaries

Company 2022 2021
Atcost £'000 £'000
Tandem Bank Limited 190,854 81,931
Oplo Holdings Ltd 31,9M -
Allium Lending Group Limited - -
Pariti Technologies Limited - 10

222,765 81,941

A £32,458k impairment reversal relating to the investment in TBL was recognised during the year (2021:
impairment loss of £22,874k). TML invested £76,465k of capital into TBL during the year (2021: £12,309k).

On 24 January 2022, TML purchased the entire issued share capital of Oplo Holdings Ltd for £153,696k.
During the year, Oplo Holdings Ltd paid a dividend of £41,137k which was recognised as a reductionin TML’s
investment in Oplo Holdings Ltd. Animpairmentioss of £80,64%krelating to the investmentin Oplo Holdings
Limited was recognised during the year as a result of the loan portfolios being transferred from the Oplo
entities to TBL. Refer to Note 41for further information.

The investment in Allium Lending Group was impaired to zero in 2020. No impairment reversal relating to the
investment in Allium Lending Group was recognised during the year (2021: £nil).

Pariti Technologies Limited issued dividends of £10k during the year prior to entering liquidation reducing
the value of the investment held by TML.
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19. Investments in Subsidiaries (continued)

Wholly owned subsidiary companies

As at 31 December 2022, the Group includes the following subsidiary companies whose resuits
areincluded in the consolidated Financial Statements:

Name Holding Ownership Nature of business
Type
Tandem Bank Limited* 100% Direct Providing loans and deposits to customers
Oplo Holdings Ltd** 100% Direct Holding company
Allium Lending Group 100% Direct Holding company
Limited*
Pariti Technologies Limited* | 100% Direct Dormant
Tandem Home Loans Limited | 100% Indirect Providing loans to customers
(formerly Oplo HL Ltd)**
Tandem Motor Finance 100% Indirect Providing loans to customers
Limited (formerly Oplo CF
Ltd)**
Oplo PL Ltd** 100% Indirect Providing loans to customers
Oplo Group Ltd** 100% Indirect Loan servicing and administration
Oplo Reserve Ltd**** 100% Indirect Providing funding to entities in the Group
Oplo Funding Ltd**** 100% Indirect Providing funding to entities in the Group
GDFC Assets Ltd* 100% Indirect Providing loans to customers
GDFC HoldCo Ltd* 100% Indirect Holding company
GDFC Services PLC* 100% Indirect Loan servicing and administration
Polo Funding 2021-1 0% SPE Special purpose funding vehicle
(Holdings) Limited***
Polo Funding 2021-1PLC*** 0% SPE Special purpose funding vehicle
Oplo Funding No.2 0% SPE Special purpose funding vehicle
Limited****

All subsidiaries were incorporated in the United Kingdom. For more information relating to the
consolidation of SPE’s, referto Note 1.4

Subsidiaries marked with “*” have a registered office address of Hogarth House, 136 High
Holborn, London, WC1V 6PX.

Subsidiaries marked with “**” have aregistered office address of Viscount Court, Sir Frank Whittle
Way, Blackpool, FY4 2FB.

Subsidiaries marked with “***” have a registered office address of 11th Floor 200 Aldersgate
Street, London, ECIA4HD

Subsidiaries marked with “****” have aregistered office address of 40a Station Road, Upminster,
Essex, RM142TR

Pariti Technologies Limited is exempt from audit by virtue of s479A of Companies Act 2006.
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20. Fixed Assets

Intanglble Assets

Group

Cost
As atJanuary 2022

Additions related to acquisition

of subsidiary
Additions

Write-offs
As at 31 December 2022

Accumulated Amortisation
As at1January 2022

Charge

Write-offs

As at 31 December 2022

Netbook value as at
31December 2022

Group

Cost

As at1January 2021
Additions

Transfer of Work in progress
As at 31 December 2021

Accumulated Amortisation
As at1January 2021

Charge

As at 31 December 2021

Netbook value as at
31December 2021

Internally
Generated Brand & Computer Regulatory Workin
Software  Trademark Software Licences Progress  Goodwill Tota!
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
1,649 62 576 2,395 67 1,188 15,937
- 290 2,944 - - 107,332 110,566
16 5 - - 958 - 979
- - (20) (323) (38) - (381)
1,665 357 3,500 2,072 987 18,520 127,101
735 34 162 1,152 - 1,523 3,606
551 278 1,053 207 - 1,160 13,249
- - - (323) - - (323)
1,286 312 1,215 1,036 - 12,683 16,532
379 45 2,285 1,036 987 105,837 110,569
internally
Generated Brand& Computer Regulatory Workin
Software Trademark  Software Licences Progress Goodwill Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
1,492 60 315 2,395 204 Nn,188 15,654
157 2 57 - 67 - 283
- - 204 - (204) - -
1,649 62 576 2,395 67 11,188 15,937
225 28 23 943 - 344 1,563
510 6 139 209 - 1,179 2,043
735 34 162 ' 1,152 - 1,523 3,606
914 28 414 1,243 &7 9,665 12,331
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20. Fixed Assets (continued)

intangible Assets (continued)

Company

Cost

As at1January 2022
Additions

Write-offs

As at 31 December 2022

Accumulated Amortisation
Asat1January 2022

Charge
As at 31December 2022

Net book value as at 31 December 2022

Company

Cost

As at 1January 2021
Additions

As at 31 December 2021

Accumulated Amortisation
As at1January 2021

Charge
As at 31 December 2021

Net book value as at 31 December 2021

104

Internally
Generated Workin
Software Trademark Progress Total
£'000 £'000 £000 £'000
1,649 62 38 1,749
16 5 958 979
- - (38) (38)
1,665 67 958 2,690
735 34 - 769
551 6 557
1,286 40 - 1,326
379 27 958 1,364
internally
Generated Workin
Software Trademark Progress Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
1,492 60 - 1,552
157 2 38 197
1,649 62 38 1,749
225 28 - 253
510 é - 516
735 34 - 769
147} 28 38 980




Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

20. Fixed Assets (continued)
Intangible Assets (continued)

() Adjusted Measures

The amortisation of goodwill andintangible assets on acquisition totalled £11,729k (2021: £1,388k)
and consists of the amortisation of goodwill £11,160k (2021: £1,179k), fair value of brands acquired
of £271k (2021: £nil), fair value adjustment to technology acquired of £91k (2021: £nil) and
regulatory licences of £207k (2021: £209k).

() Goodwillimpalrment

Significantjudgementis applied when determining the expected useful life of Goodwilland when
considering whether goodwillisimpaired.

The expected usefullife of Goodwillis 10 years and any change in this estimate willhave animpact
on the period over which the capitalised expenditure is amortised.

The Group has 2 main cash generating units ( CGU’) with associated goodwill and has carried out
a review for indicators of impairment for both. The first is in relation to the Allium acquisition in
August 2020 and the second is in relation to the Oplo acquisition in January 2022. Whilst the
performance of each CGU has been strong, other macroeconomic factors during 2022 have
resulted in the need for the recoverable amounts to be evaluated.

The recoverable amount is the higher of the value in use ('VIU’) and the fair value less costs to sell.
In both cases the VIU was higher than the carrying value and therefore no impairment charge has
been recognised. In addition, the latest forecasts remain supportive of strong growth and there
" isnoindication that the useful life should be required to be shortened.

The VIU calculation is based on the Board approved 5-year plan adjusted for non-cash items,
capital expenditure and cash flows as a result of regulatory capital requirements. A discount rate
is applied in order to calculate the net present value (‘'NPV’) of the cash flows (16% and 20% for
Allium and Oplo CGUs respectively) and a terminal value has been calculated using a multiple of
the tangible book value (2.0x for both Allium and Oplo). Given the significant judgement involved
in determining terminal value multiples and discount rates to be used, these assumptions can
significantly impact the NPV of cash flows calculated to support the value of the goodwill in the
Financial Statements. As at 31 December 2022 the total carrying value of the CGU'’s is £192,957k.
The total VIU has been calculated as £223,237k. A100bps increase/decrease in the discount rate
applied would result in a £13,867k decrease/£14,569%k increase in the VIU. An increase/decrease
of 0.1 in the tangible book value multiple used would result in a £11,145k increase/£11,145k
decreaseinthe VIU.
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20. Fixed Assets (continued)

Intangible Assets (continued)

(ii)  Individual Intangible Assets Material to the Financial Statements

The individual intangible assets, excluding goodwill, which are material to the Financial
Statements consist of the following:

Internally Generated Software (Group & Company)

- A mobile savings application allowing customers to open and manage their deposit
accounts. The mobile savings application has a net book value of £249k (2021: £521k) and
remaining amortisation period of 1years (2021: 2 years).

- Acustom built loan origination system that manages applications and onboarding. The
loan origination system has a net book value of £763k (2021: £nil) and was still in progress
as at 31 December2022.

Regulatory Licences (Group)

- Alicence granted by the FCA and PRA allowing the Group to act as a deposit-taker in the
United Kingdom. The licence has a net book value of £1,036k (2021: £1,243k) and a
remaining amortisation period of 5 years (2021 6 years).
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20. Fixed Assets (continued)

Tangible Assets

Group

Cost

As at 1January 2022

Additions related to
acquisition of subsidiary

Additions
As at 31 December 2022

Accumulated
Depreciation

As at1January 2022
Charge
As at 31 December 2022

Net book value as at
31 December 2022

Group

Cost

As at 1January 2021
Additions

Write-offs

As at 31 December 2021

Accumulated
Depreciation

As at1January 2021
Charge

Write-offs

As at 31 December 2021

Net book value as at
31December 2021

Leasehold  Office andIT Fixtures and
Improvements Equipment Fittings Vehicles Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
18 332 7 - 357
234 396 121 53 804
53 341 53 8 455
305 1,069 181 61 1,616
n 224 6 - 24]
92 201 48 14 355
103 425 54 14 596
202 644 127 47 1,020
Leasehold OfficeandIT Fixtures and
Improvements Equipment Fittings Vehicles Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
28 381 72 32 513
18 66 - - 84
(28) ms) (65) (32) (240)
18 332 7 - 357
16 237 59 32 344
15 92 4 - m
(20) (105) (57) (32) (214)
n 224 é - 241
7 108 1 - Nné
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20. Fixed Assets (continued)
Tangible Assets (continued)

Company

Cost

As at 1January 2022
Additions

As at 31December 2022

Accumulated
Depreciation

As at 1January 2022
Charge
As at 31 December 2022

Net Book Value as at
31December 2022

Company

Cost

As at1January 2021
Additions

Wirite-offs

As at 31 December 2021

Accumulated
Depreclation

As at 1January 2021
Charge

Write-offs

As at 31 December 2021

Net Book Value as at
31December 2021

Leasehold Officeand T Fixtures and
Improvements Equipment Fittings Vehicles Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
18 297 7 - 322
8 90 42 - 140
26 387 49 - 462
n 24 - 231
8 31 - 43
19 245 10 - 274
7 142 39 - 188
Leasehold Office and T Fixtures and
improvements Equipment Fittings Vehicles Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
28 350 72 32 482
18 62 - - 80
(28) ms) (65) 32) (240)
18 297 7 - 322
16 234 59 32 3N
15 85 4 - 104
(20) (105) (57) (32) (214)
n 214 6 - 23
7 83 1 - 7N
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21. Other Assets

2022 2021
Group £'000 £'000
Trade receivables 5,821 3,728
Refundable deposits 177 Nno
Research and development tax credit 366 151
Sundry debtors 874 50
Deferred tax 13,119 -
20,357 4,039

Company
Refundabie deposits 177 92
Research and development tax credit 273 151
Intercompany 1,274 12
Sundry debtors 298 22
Deferred tax 8,755 -
10,777 277

22. Prepayments and Accrued Income

2022 2021
Group £'000 £'000
Prepayments 3,009 2,181
Accruedincome - 4
3,009 2,185

Company
Prepayments 2,176 2,152

23. Deposits by Banks
2022 2021
Group £'000 £'000
Bank of England Term Funding Scheme 23,647 39,971
Derivative collateral received 19,849 -
43,496 39,971
Repayable: ,

Undated 19,849 -
3months orless - 16,513
Betweenland 5years 23,647 23,458
43,496 39,971

Referto Note 36.2 for further details on derivative collateral received.
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24. Customer Accounts

2022 2021
Group £'000 £'000
Customeraccounts 1,755,108 771,236
Fair value adjustment for portfolio hedged risk (240) (75)
1,754,868 771,161

25. Debt Securitiesinissue
2022 2021
Group £'000 £000
Securitisation Loan Notes 128,400 -

The Securitisation Loan Notes are issued through Polo Funding 2021-1PLC, a SPE set up for
securitising a portfolio of second and subsequent ranking consumer secured loans originated by
Tandem Home Loans Limited. These notes attractinterest rates of up to 6.50% above SONIA and

have a final maturity date in September 2046.

26. Other Liabilities

2022 2021
Group £'000 £'000
Trade creditors 2,774 331
Other taxes and social security costs 916 430
Cash settled share-based payments 65 64
Other liabilities 1,170 852
Corporation tax payable nz7 -
5,042 1,677

Company
Trade creditors 1,108 241
Othertaxes and social security costs 916 359
Cash settled share-based payments ' 65 64
Intercompany 3,960 963
Other liabilities 460 345
6,509 1,972
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for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

27. Accruals and Deferred Income

Group
Accruals

Company
Accruals

28. Provisions for Liabilities

Group & Company
As at1January 2022

Utilisation during the year
As at 31 December 2022

As at1January 2021
Additions through profit orloss
As at 31 December 2021

Restructuring Provision

2022 2021
£'000 £'000
5,012 2,086
3,754 1,581
Restructuring
Provision Total
£'000 £'000
943 943
(943) (943)
943 943
943 943

In December 2021, the Group began implementing a restructuring planin preparation for the
acquisition of Oplo Holdings Ltd. The provision consisted of redundancy costs forimpacted
employees as well as expected costs related to the integration of the Group and Oplo Holdings

Ltd. The provision was fully utilised in 2022.

29. Commitments and Contingent Liabilities

The Group had the following future commitments in relation to lending contracts:

Commitments

Unsecured lending commitments
Mortgages

2022 2021
£°000 £'000
81,550 24,200

12,071 4,525
93,621 28,725
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for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

30. Share Capital, Warrants and Reserves

2022 2021
Group £'000 £'000
Called-up ordinary share capital
As at 1January 915 804
Issued as consideration for subsidiary 308 -
Issued for cash 1,806 m
As at 31 December 3,029 915
Share premium account
As at 1January 210,61 202,694
Issued as consideration for subsidiary 27,182 -
Issued forcash 158,239 7,977
As at 31 December 396,092 210,671
Warrants 1,391 1,391
Otherreserves
Share options reserve 5,741 4,683
Distributable reserves from employee benefit trusts 781 781

6,522 5,464
Retainedreserves (161,979) (164,941)

2022 2021
Company £'000 £'000
Called-up ordinary share capital
As at 1January 915 804
Issued as consideration for subsidiary 308 -
Issued forcash 1,806 m
As at 31 December 3,029 N5
Share premium account
As at 1January 210,67 202,694
Issued as consideration for subsidiary 27,182 -
Issued forcash 158,239 7,977
As at 31 December 396,092 210,671

Warrants 1,391 1,391
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for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

30. Share Capital, Warrants and Reserves (continued)

2022 2021
£'000 £'000

Otherreserves
Share-based payment reserve 5,741 4,683
Distributable reserves from employee benefits trusts 781 781
6,522 5,464
Retainedreserves (178,547) (136,499)

As at 31December 2022, the Company had 1,514,374k ordinary shares of £0.002 authorised, fully
paid up and in issue (2021: 457,513k). During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company
issued 902,659k ordinary shares (2021: 55,467k) of £0.002 nominal value for cash consideration
of £160,045k (2021: £8,088k). During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company issued
£154,203k ordinary shares as consideration for the purchase of a subsidiary (2021: £nil) with a
deemed value of £27,490k (2021: £nil). There are no restrictions on the distribution of dividends
and the repayment of capital.

On 4 July 2019, Allium Lending Group (‘ALG’) and Abundance Investment Ltd entered into a
warrantinstrument pursuant to which Allium issued warrants entitling the holders of suchwarrants
to subscribe for 671.4k B Ordinary Shares in the capital of ALG. The acquisition of the entire issued
share capital of ALG by the Company constitutes a Share-for-Share Sale which, in accordance
with the provisions of the Original Warrant Instrument, results in the cancellation of the Original
Warrants and the issue of replacement warrants in respect of shares in the Company to the
holders of the Original Warrants. Accordingly, the Company, by resolution of its Directors and
shareholders and with the consent of its Major Shareholders, agreed to issue warrants to
subscribe for 5,506.8k Ordinary Shares in the capital of the Company on the terms set out in this
Instrument.

The total number of share awards outstanding under share-based payment schemes is 16,022k
(2021: 16,102k), of which 73k were awarded in 2022 (2021: £7,718k). No share options were
exercised in 2022 (2021: nil). There are shares held in EBTs in relation to share-based award
schemes. The EBTs are consolidated in the Company results and the distributable reserves form
part of otherreserves. See Note 32 for further details on share-based payments.

31. Dividends

There is no dividend payable for the year ended 31 December 2022 in respect of the ordinary
shares. (31 December 2021: £ nil).
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for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

32. Share-based Payments

As at 31 December 2022, 4 employee incentive schemes are in operation by the Group: a Growth Share Plan
('GSP’), a Joint Share Ownership Plan ('JSOP’), an Unapproved Share Option Plan (USOP’) and an Employee
Share Scheme (‘ESS’).

The expense charged to the Income Statement for each during 2022 was as follows:

2022 2021

£'000 £'000

Growth Share Plan 1,072 -
Joint Share Ownership Plan 217 81
Unapproved Share Option Scheme 3 (79)
Employee Share Scheme ‘ 2 (4)
1,294 (2)

Growth Share Plan

In 2022 Tandem issued 73k C shares (a new class of share) at a subscription price of £3.82 per share. The
participants will receive 10% of equity proceeds in excess of a predetermined hurdle value. The awards can
be redeemed only in the event of an asset or share sale for a controlling interest in the Company or an Initial
Public Offering (‘IPO’).

The awards have a nearly 4 year vesting schedule with 20% vesting either at grant date or 10 months afterthe
grant date and then the remaining vesting in equal monthly instalments from 24 january 2023 over 36
months. They are classifled as equity settled and the fair value of the awards calculated as at the date of
grant and are not remeasured.

2022

No. of awards

{(‘000)

Outstanding as at 1 January -
Granted during the year . 73
Forfeited during the year (8)
Outstanding as at 31 December é5

Joint Share Ownership Plan

The participants of the JSOP are required to make a payment up front, the subscription price of £0.06 per
option, for the right to the future growth in the company’s value above a predetermined hurdle price. The
shares are held in an EBT which jointly own the shares. As with the GSP, awards can be redeemed only in the
event of an asset or share sale for a controlling interest in the Company or an PO, at which point the
participant will receive the value above the hurdle price and the value below the hurdle price willremainin the
EBT to distribute at the discretion of the RemCo.

There is an Employee JSOP scheme and a Founder JSOP scheme, both of which have a 5 year vesting
schedule with 40% of the award vesting after 2 years and then a further 10% vesting every 6 months
thereafter. They are classified as equity settled and the fair value of the awards calculated as at the date of
grant and are not remeasured.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

32. Share-based Payments (continued)

Joint Share Ownership Plan (continued)

2022 2021

No. of awards No. of awards

(‘000) (000)

Outstanding as at 1January 7,788 10,164
Forfeited during the year (ms) (2,376)
Outstanding as at 31 December 7,670 7,788

The JSOP has been closed to new entrants since 2019. However, in 2021 a separate award was issued that is
not part of the JSOP management incentive plan but is using the potential value in the EBTs representing the
‘below the hurdle’ value of the shares. Under the terms, the participant will receive the value from£0 to £1.55
based on a notional of 4,700k shares, providing a predetermined hurdle price is achieved in the event of an
asset or share sale foracontrollinginterestin the Company oranIPO. The award has been classified as a cash
settled share-based payment and the fair value of the award is calculated at each reporting date.

Unapproved Share Option Scheme

The Company has granted options on Ordinary B shares in an USOP in 2016 and has made further grants in
subsequent years with eligibility determined by the Board. There have been no furtherissuances since 2021
and the scheme now remains closed to new participants.

These options are equity settled with the option giving the holder the right to acquire shares at a future date
at the exercise price of £0.002 or £0.253 (depending on the terms when they were issued).

The USOP has a 4-year vesting period, in equal 6 month tranches of 12.5%. The vesting period begins on the
date of employment with the Company with the exception of the options granted in 2018 where the vesting
commencement date is linked with the acquisition date of TBL for certain employees. As with the other
awards, the options can be exercised only in the event of an asset or share sale for a controlling interest in
the Company oraniPO.

As an equity settled scheme, the fair value of the options are calculated as at the date of grant and is not re-
measured

The number and weighted average exercise price of options outstanding as at the Balance Sheet date were
as foliows:

2022 2021
Weighted
Weighted average
average exercise price
No. exercise price No. (restated)
(:‘000) £ ('000) £
Outstanding as at 1 January 3,473 0.014 1,553 0.039
Granted during the year - - 3,018 0.002
Forfeited during the year (27) 0.124 (1,098) 0.015
Outstanding as at 31 December 3,446 0.013 3,473 0.014
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

32. Share-based Payments (continued)

Unapproved Share Option Scheme (continued)
There were no exercisable options in the year (2021: nil).

The fair values of the above awards (for the GSP, JSOP and USOP) have been estimated using an
option valuation model as there are not currently open market conditions for these awards given
they are privately held. The significant inputs are the share price and the volatility rates. The share
price is based on the prevailing share price from the latest capital raises at the date of the
valuation. The expected volatility is determined by assessing the historical volatility of listed peers
to obtain an estimated ‘implied’ volatility at this date. Otherinputs included the risk-free rate and
length of hold.

Employee Share Scheme (‘ESS’)

From 23 November 2016, the Company closed the ESS to new entrants, following withdrawal by
the UK Government of their support for such schemes. On entry into the scheme, ordinary shares
were issued to employees following their probation period. The vesting period began from the
date of employment withthe Company. The fair value was determined at the grant date andis not
re-measured.

All shares are now either fully vested or lapsed. There are 141k outstanding awards as at 31
December2022 (31 December 2021: 141k). There were 296k shares granted in total under the ESS
scheme, of which 155k have lapsed.

33. Operating Leases

Commitments for minimum lease payments in relation to non-cancellable operating leases are
payable as foliows:

2022 2021

Group £'000 £'000
Less thanlyear 696 428
Between1yearand 5 years 258 -
954 428

2022 2021

Company £'000 £'000
Lessthanlyear 460 274
Between1year and 5 years 144 -
604 274

Total lease payments made by the Group in 2022 were £1,121k (2021; £1,086k).
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

34. Notes to the Cash Flow Statement

Forthe cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise the following:

2022 202}
Group £'000 £'000
Cash and balances at central banks 679,659 360,378

Loans and advances to banks:
Repayable on demand 41,14 18,331
Cash collateral on derivatives placed with banks 1,104 500
721,877 379,209

Company

Loans and advances to banks:

Repayable on demand 1,480 997
Reconciliation of loss before taxation to new cash flows generated from operating activities:

2022 2021
Group £'000 £'000
Loss on operating actlvities before tax (12,355) (19,586)
Impairment movement on loans and advances to customers 15,735 1,705
Amortisation of intangible fixed assets 1,520 657
Amortisation of goodwill and intangible assets on acquisition 1,729 1,386
Depreciation 355 m
Write-off of tangible and intangible assets 58 26
Share-based payments 1,058 (77)
Fair value adjustments for portfolio hedged assets 25,660 2,333
Fair value adjustments for portfolio hedged liabilities (165) (75)
Fair value gain on derivatives (27,911) (2,373)
Loss on sale of loan portfolios - 569
Loss on sale of debt securities 249 -
Write-off of equity shares - 1,000
Unrealised foreign exchange gain on equity shares - (36)
Non-cashitems Included loss on operating activities before tax 28,288 5,126
Increase in loans and advances to customers (398,908) (46,856)
Decrease in derivative instruments 1,397 -
Decrease in equity shares - 7
Decrease in other assets 5,443 2,981
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments and accrued income 1,94 (135)
Increase/(decrease) in deposits by banks - 3,525 (10,042)
Increase in customer accounts 983,872 276,274
Decrease indebt securities inissue (791) -
Increase/(decrease)in other liabilities 3,299 (2,299)
Decreasein accruals and deferred income (296) (445)
(Decrease)/increase in provisions for liabilities (943) 943
Change In operating assets and llabllities 598,512 220,428
614,445 205,968
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

34. Notesto the Cash Flow Statement (continued)

Analysis of changes in net debt

Acquired as

partof Fair value & Asat 31
Asat1January acquisition of exchange Non-cash December
2022 subsidiary Cash flows movements Changes* 2022
£'000 £000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
cash andbalances at central 360,378 - 318,235 - 1,046 679,659
Loans and advances to banks 18,831 15,226 8,161 - - 42,218
Cash and cash equivalents 379,209 15,226 326,396 - 1,046 721,877
Deposits from banks (39,971) - (3,300) - (225) (43,496)
Customer accounts (771,161) - (975,871) 165 (8,001) (1,754,868)
Debt securities inissue - (389,497) 260,391 - 706 (128,400)

Derivatives held for risk
management @®9) - - (720) - (809)
Total (432,012) (374,271) (392,384) (555) (6,474) (1,205,696)

*Non-cash changes represent movements in accrued interest and effective interest rate adjustments.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

35. Analysis of Financial Instruments by Classification Basis

The carrying value of the Group’s financialinstruments are summarised by category below:

31December 2022

Financial Assets

Cash and balances at central
banks

Loans and advances to banks

Loans and advances to
customers

Debt securities

Derivatives held for risk
management

Equity shares

Total Financial Assets
Non-financial assets
Total Assets

Financial Liabilities
Deposits by banks
Customer accounts

Debt securities inissue

Derivative held for risk
management

Otherliabilities
Accruals and deferredincome
Total Financial Liabilities

Total Liabilities

Derivatives

Measured at Liabilities

Available Fair Value at

Loans and forSale throughProfit Amortised
Receivables Securities orLoss Cost Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
679,659 - - - 679,659
42,218 - - - 42,218
1,202,739 - - - 1,202,739
- 91,210 - - 91,210
- - 29,592 - 29,592
- 2,309 - - 2,309
1,924,616 93,519 29,592 - 2,047,727
134,955
2,182,682
- - - 43,496 43,496
- - - 1,754,868 1,754,868
- - - 128,400 128,400
- - 809 - 809
- - - 5,042 5,042
- - - 5,012 5,012
- - 809 1,936,818 1,937,627
1,937,627
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

35. Analysis of Financial Instruments by Classification Basis

(continued)

31December 2021
Financial Assets

Cash and balances at central

banks

Loans and advances to
banks

Loans and advances to
customers

Debt securities

Derivatives held forrisk
management

Equity shares

Total Financial Assets
Non-financial assets
Total Assets

Financial Liabilities
Deposits by banks

Customer accounts

Derivative held for risk
management

Other liabilities
Accruals and deferred

income
Provisions for liabilities

Total Financial Liabilities
Total Liabilities

Derivatives
Measured at

Available FairValue Liabilities at

Loans and forSale through Profit Amortised
Receivables Securities orlLoss Cost Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
360,378 - - - 360,378
18,831 - - - 18,831
437,004 - - - 437,004
- 30,215 - - 30,215
- - 2,358 - 2,358
- 1,970 - - 1,970
816,213 32,185 2,358 - 850,756
18,671
869,427
- - - 39,971 39,97
- - - 771,161 771,161
- - 89 - 89
- - - 1,677 1,677
- - - 2,086 2,086
- - - 943 943
- - 89 815,838 815,927
815,927
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

36. Risk Management

Through its normal operations, the Group is exposed to a number of financial risks, the most
significant of which are credit risk, liquidity and funding risk, market risk and operational risk.

36.1 CreditRisk

Creditrisk is the risk of financial losses to the Group resulting from a borrower or counterparty’s
failure to repay a debt or meet their contractual obligations.

Inline with Tandem’s RMF, overall responsibility for credit risk rests with the Board of Directors, on
whose behalf the Risk Committee oversee credit risk profile relative to the Board approved Risk
Appetite. Day-to-day management of creditrisk is delegated to Executive Management.

Management manages credit risk through the RMF and in line with the Board approved Risk
Appetite. Management has set out product level credit policies and oversees credit
performance through the Credit Committee.

() Impairment Assessment

For its first charge mortgage portfolio, the Group maintains a dynamic approach to credit
management with impairment assessed on an individual asset basis taking into account factors
such as client credit history, any changes to financial position and clients’ willingness to work with
the Group to resolve the situation. The Group will monitor and liaise with the customer through
remediation. During the forbearance period, if the arrears status of a customer deteriorates and
there is failure to respond to correspondence to agree arevised payment arrangement plan, the
Group will take steps torecover the debt using their expertise to determine an optimumrecovery
strategy.

For its unsecured lending and second charge mortgages, the Group assesses allowances
collectively forimpairment losses. The collective assessment is made for groups of assets with
similar risk characteristics and takes into account changes in credit conditions, including,
borrowers’ payment behaviour.

() Loans and Advances to Customers

For unsecured lending and certain secured lending, everything past due is classified as impaired
but not all is expected to be written-off. The Group holds a provision for the past due balances
based on historic arrears data. For first charge mortgages, a provision is only recognised against
a specific balance when objective evidence of a specific loss event has been observed.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

36. Risk Management (continued)

36.1. CreditRisk (continued)

(i) LoansandAdvancesto Customers (continued)

Credit Quality Analysis

As at 31 December 2022
Total gross impaired loans
Past due but notimpaired
Neither past due norimpaired
Total gross amount due

As at 31 December 2021
Total gross impaired loans
Past due but notimpaired
Neither past due norimpaired
Total gross amount due

Aging Analysis

As at 31 December 2022
Total gross impaired loans
Less than 3months

Past due 3to12months
Past due over12 months

As at 31 December 2022
Past due but notimpaired
Less than 3 months

Past due 3to 12 months
Past due over 12 months

Unsecured Secured
Lending Lending Total
£'000 £'000 £'000
28,252 29,619 57,87
- 1,604 1,604
406,532 784,852 1,191,384
434,784 826,075 1,260,859
8,443 - 8,443
- 13,074 13,074
174,451 249,108 423,559
182,894 262,182 445,076
Unsecured Secured
Lending Lending Total
£'000 £'000 £'000
13,294 11,505 24,799
n,224 10,023 21,247
3,734 8,091 . 1,825
28,252 29,619 57,87
- 3,672 3,672
- 7,228 7,228
- 704 704
- 1,604 1,604
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

36. Risk Management (continued)
36.1. CreditRisk (continued)

(i) LoansandAdvances to Customers (continued)

Aging Analysis (continued)
Unsecured Secured

Lending Lending Total
As at 31 December 2021 £'000 £'000 £'000

Total gross impaired loans
Less than 3 months 989 - 989
Past due 3to 12 months 4,619 - 4,619
Past due over 12 months 2,835 - 2,835
8,443 - 8,443

As at 31 December 2021

Past due but notimpaired
Less than 3 months - 2,737 2,737
Past due over 12 months - 10,337 10,337
- 13,074 13,074

The Group holds collateral against loans and advances to customers, on the secured book,
predominantly in the form of first and second charge mortgages overresidential and commercial
real estate. The average LTV ratio for the first charge mortgage portfolio which measures the size
of advance against the value of collateral held as at the date of the advance to customers is
54.9% as at 31 December 2022 (2021: 50.0%).

Sensitivity Analysis of Loans to Customers Impairment Provision
- ChangeinArrears

The Group's provision calculation utilises an IAS39 accounting methodology which is sensitive to
the relative size of the arrears book compared to the overall balance. The table below illustrates
the sensitivity of provisions to increases in arrears ratio, assuming the overall balance remains
unchanged:

UnsecuredLending Arrears Ratio Provision Increase Provision Increase

% £'000 %
As at 31 December 2022 3.1% N/A N/A
+2.5% 3.2% 172 1.8%
+5.0% 3.3% 344 3.6%
+7.5% 3.4% 517 5.4%
+10.0% 3.5% 689 7.3%
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

36. Risk Management (continued)
36.1. CreditRisk (continued)

() Loansand Advances to Customers (continued)

Sensitlvity Analysis of Loans to Customers Impairment Provision (continued)

Unsecured Lending

Arrears Ratio

Provision Increase

Provision Increase

% £'000 %
As at 31 December 2021 1.0% N/A N/A
+2.5% 1.1% 19 1.8%
+5.0% 1.1% 37 3.5%
+7.5% 1.1% 56 5.3%
+10.0% 1.1% 75 7.0%
Secured Lending* Arrears Rat;z Provision Inc;:r%a:g Provision Increa;z
As at 31 December 2022 3.1% N/A N/A
+2.5% 3.2% 14 2.1%
+5.0% 3.2% 228 4.3%
+7.5% 3.3% 342 6.4%
+10.0% 3.4% 456 8.5%

*Comparatives relating to Secured Lending are not presented for 2021 as there was no provision

held against the portfolio.

-  %PointincreaseinLGD

Similarly, Tandem’s provisions are sensitive to the LGD assumptions. The table below illustrates
the sensitivity of the year end provision position to percentage point increases in LGD, assuming

overall balance remains unchanged.

Unsecured Lending Balance Weigl;‘t;g Provision In;r%a:(e) Provision Increa;:
As at 31 December 2022 72.3% N/A N/A
2.5% 74.8% 328 3.5%
5.0% 77.3% 656 6.9%
7.5% 79.8% 984 10.4%
10.0% 82.3% 1,312 13.8%
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

36. Risk Management (continued)

36.1. CreditRisk (continued)

() Loansand Advances to Customers (continued)

Sensitivity Analysis of Loans to Customers Impairment Provision (continued)

Unsecured Lending

As at 31 December 2021

2.5%
5.0%
7.5%
10.0%

Secured Lending*

As at 31 December 2022

2.5%
5.0%
7.5%
10.0%

Balance Weighted Provisionincrease Provision Increase
LGD £'000 %

71.5% N/A N/A

74.0% 37 3.5%

76.5% 74 7.0%

79.0% m 10.5%

81.5% 149 14.0%

Balance Weighted Provisionincrease Provision Increase
LGD £000 %

63.3% N/A N/A

65.8% 210 3.9%

68.3% 421 7.9%

70.8% 631 1.8%

73.3% 841 15.8%

*Comparatives relating to Secured Lending are not presented for 2021 as there was no provision

held against the portfolio.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

36. Risk Management (continued)

36.1. Credit Risk (continued)
(i) Loansand Advances to Customers (continued)

Sensitivity Analysis of Loans to Customers Impairment Provision (continued)
- Increase in Emergence Perlod

The Group's impairment provision for its secured lending (second charge mortgage) portfolio is particularly
sensitive to increases in emergence period (see Note 15) where affordability is stretched. The unsecured
lending portfolio is not disclosed in the following table as it is less likely to see an increase in emergence
period and is more likely to move into arrears quicker with a shorter emergence period. Alonger emergence
period increases the impairment provision balance required to be heid.

Secured Lending* Emergence Period Provisionincrease Provision Increase

(months) £'000 %
As at 31 December 2022 3 N/A N/A
+1months 4 326 2.5%
+2months 5 678 5.2%
+3 months 6 1,051 8.1%

*Comparatives are not presented for 2021 as the emergence period was not a key sensitivity on secured
lending in the prior period and the Group’s exposure to second charge mortgages was significantly lower.

Loan to Value Analysis of First Charge Mortgage Portfolio:

2022 2021

% %

<40% 15.6 23.2
40% t0 50% 19.9 n.2
50% to 60% 25.1 24.2
60% to 70% 17.3 22.6
70% to 80% 17.7 16.3
> 80% 4.4 25
Total ' 100 100
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for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

36. Risk Management (continued)

36.1. CreditRisk (continued)

(i) Debt Securities Held for Liquidity Purposes

The Group’s Treasury Policy allows the holding of debt securities within its High-Quality Liquid
Asset buffer to meet its liquidity requirements under the Group’s Liquidity Risk Appetite.
Additionally, the Group has positioned Debt Securities within its Single Collateral Pool (‘SCP’) at
the Bank of England to collateralise its liabilities held under the Sterling Monetary Framework.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group held assets with a notional value of £9,000k in its SCP to
collateralise its Term Funding Scheme with Additional Incentives for SME’s (‘TFSME’) advance with
the Bank of England. Abreakdown of the Group’s holdings of Debt Securities is shown below:

Ratin Notional Mark to

Issuer . 9 Value Market Value
. (Moody’s) £'000 £'000

United Kingdom Government Aa3 20,000 19,960
Supranational Financial institutions* Aaa 30,000 30,279
European Financial Institutions Aa3 10,000 9,829
United Kingdom Financial Institutions Aaa 31,104 31,142
Total 91,104 91,210

*Included in this total are Debt Securities with a notional value of £2,000k that are positioned
within the Group’s SCP at the Bank of England.
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for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

36. Risk Management (continued)

36.2. Liquidity Risk

Liquidity riskis the risk that the Group is unable to meet its obligations as they are expected to fall
due orcanonly do so at exceptional cost. Inline with the Overall Liquidity Adequacy Rule (OLAR’),
the Group will maintain liquidity resources which are adequate, both as to amount and quality in
order to meet its requirements at all times.

The Group reports liquidity risk using the Liquidity Coverage Ratio (‘LCR’) and has maintained a
balance of High-Quality Liquid Assets (HQLA’) to meet its minimum regulatory requirement of
100% at all times throughout 2022, as detailed in the Strategic Report. Furthermore,
Management has implemented additional liquidity and funding risk metrics to ensure that risks
that are not adequately captured in the LCR are monitored and mitigated as appropriate.
Liquidity risk is managed by the Group’s Treasury function with executive oversight provided by
ALCo. Allliquidity metrics are reported daily to ALCo and subsequently cascaded to the ExCoand
Board on a monthly basis.

The Internal Liquidity Adequacy Assessment Process ('ILAAP’) sets out the Group's approach to
liquidity risk and its Balance Sheet funding plan. The ILAAP has been prepared in line with internal
policies and procedures as well as the regulation on liquidity and funding risk management
defined by the PRA rulebook. In completing the ILAAP, Tandem’s Senior Management have
assessed:

o The Group’s Business Model and Strategy and the ways in which the Firm incurs liquidity
and funding risks throughits day-to-day operations;

. The adequacy of the Group's liquidity and funding resources to cover the risks identified;

. The methodologies and assumptions applied for risk measurement and liquidity
management;

) The major sources of risk to the Group's ability to meet their liabilities as they fall due,

including a review of the business against the risks outlined in Article 86 of the Capital
Requirement Directive and $SS24/15;

. The results of the stress testing of these risks;

. The adequacy and appropriateness of the Group’s liquidity RMF and internal governance;
and

. Therecovery plans it has in place to manage a severe stress scenario
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for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

36. Risk Management (continued)

36.2. Liquidity Risk (continued)

Contractual Maturity Analysls

The following table summarises the contractual maturity profile of the cash flows of the Group’s
- financial liabilities and derivatives, shown in accordance with their contractual maturity:

As at 31December
2022

Non-derivative liabilities
Deposits by banks
Customer accounts

Debt securitiesinissue
Otherliabilities

Accruals and deferred
Income

Derivative liabilities

Fair value hedges:
Outflow

Inflow

Net derivative cash flows

As at 31 December 2021
Non-derivative liabilities
Deposits by banks
Customer accounts
Otherliabilities

Accruals and deferred
income

Provisions for liabilities

Derivative liabilities

Fair value hedges:
Outflow

Inflow

Net derivative cash flows

On 3to12

demand <3 months months 1to 5 years Over5years Undated Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
- - - (23,647) - (19,849) (43,496)
(695,676) M4,357) 711,663) (232,494) (678) - (1,754,868)
- - - - (128,400) - (128,400)
(5,042) - - - - - (5,042)
(5,012) - - - - - (5,012)
(705,730)  (114,357)  (711,663) (256,141) (129,078) (19,849) (1,936,818)
- (3,014) (9,726) (9,315) - - (22,055)

- 3,283 9,158 8,805 - - 21,246

- 269 (568) (510) - ~ (809)
(705,730) (M14,088) (712,231) (256,651) (129,078) (19,849) (1,937,627)

3to12 Over5

Ondemand <3 months months 1to S years years Undated Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

- (16,513) - (23,458) - - (39,971

(383,901) (30,839) (261,756) (94,665) - - 771,161)
(1,677) - - - - - (1,677)
(2,086) - - - - - (2,086)
(943) - - - ~ - (943)
(388,607) (47,352)  (261,756) (118,123) - = (815,838)
- (50) (299) - - - (349)

- 77 183 - - - 260

- 27 (116) - - - (89)
(388,607) (47,325) (261,872) (118,123) - - (815,927)
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for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

36. Risk Management (continued)

36.2. Liquidity Risk (continued)

Collateral

The Group has executed derivatives for commercial hedging purposes which are supported by
credit support annexes. If the fair value of the netted derivative portfolio discounted cashflows
increase beyond a ‘Minimum Transfer Amount’, each counterparty is able to request margin from
the other to cover its current exposure. It is the Group’s policy to post and receive only GBP cash
collateral. As at 31 December 2022, the Group has provided collateral of £1,104k (2021: £500k)
andreceived collateral of £19,849k (2021: £nil) against its derivatives portfolio.

The Group also maintains collateral under the Sterling Monetary Framework (‘SMF’) which it uses
to draw funding under liquidity and term funding facilities.

36.3. Market Risk

Market risk is defined as the risk that the value of the Group’s assets, liabilities, income or costs
may fluctuate due to the result of changes to external market prices. The Group is primarily
exposed toInterest Rate Riskin the Banking Book (‘IRRBB’). The Group does not operate a trading
book and therefore has no Pillar 1 Capital charge for Market Risk. The Group also has a small
exposure to FXriskin the form of settlement of foreign currency invoices. The Board has deemed
that the Group's exposure to FXrisk is immaterial.

IRRBB is the current or prospective risk to the Group’s capital and eamnings, arising from adverse
movements in interest rates affecting the firm’s Banking Book positions. Where possible the
Group seeks to match the interest rate structure of assets and liabilities creating a natural hedge.
The Group has developed a derivative hedging strategy to mitigate the interest rate risk of fixed
rate assets and liabilities where natural hedging was not possible.

The Group’s primary measure used to capture interest rate risk is an analysis of the impact of
parallel and non-parallel shifts in the yield curve on the market value of the Group's assets and
liabilities and on the Group's projected earnings.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to areasonable possible changeininterest rates
(all other variables being held constant) on the Group's equity:

Interest Rate Risk Sensitivities:

NPV present value sensitivity

2022 2021
Parallel shift in yield curve £'000 £'000
+200bps (1,355) (108)
-200bps 1,670 234
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37. Capitél Management (unaudited)

The PRA sets and monitors capital requirements for the Group. In implementing current capital
requirements, the PRA requires the Group to maintain a prescribed level of capital withreference
to risk weighted assets and the perceived RMF. The Group prepares an annual ICAAP document
that sets out how the Group identifies and manages the key risks, and details the capital
requirements, capital resources and capital adequacy over the planperiod. Inaddition, the Group
produces regular reports and submits the forecast capital outlook to the PRA each quarter
showing current and medium-term capital requirements.

The Group managesits capitalin accordance with the regulatory framework set out by the Capital
Requirements Directive (‘'CRD IV’) and Capital Requirements Regulation (‘CRR’), as amended by
CRD V and CRR Il. These standards were retained in the UK regulatory framework via a series of
onshoring instruments as part of the UK’s withdrawal from the European Union, and the remaining
provisions of CRR Il were implemented in full in the UK from1January 2022. The requirements are
implemented in the UK by the PRA, and enhanced with additional regulation, where deemed
necessary, within the PRA Rulebook.

The minimum amount of total capital, under Pillar 1 of the regulatory framework, is set at 8% of
total risk-weighted assets. At least 4.5% of risk-weighted assets are required to be covered by
common equity tier 1 (‘CETY’) capital and at least 6% of risk-weighted assets are required to be
covered by tier 1 capital. The Pillar 1 requirements are supplemented by additional firm-specific
minimum requirements under Pillar 2A of the regulatory framework. The Pillar 2A requirement s set
by the PRA based on a point in time assessment and designed to capture risks not fully captured
under Pillar 1, and must be met with at least 56.25% CET1 capital. The total of these minimum
regulatory requirements (Pillar 1 plus Pillar 2A) is referred to as the Total Capital Requirement
(‘TCR).

The Groupis also required to hold a number of regulatory capital buffers, knownas the ‘combined
buffer’, which must be fully met with CET1 capital and consist of (i) the capital conservation buffer
(‘CCB’) and (i) the countercyclical capital buffer (CCyB’). The CCBis a standard buffer of 2.5% of
risk-weighted assets designed to provide forlosses in the event of stress, and the CCyB, whichis
time-varying, is determined by reference to buffer rates applied by the Bank of England’s
Financial Policy Committee (‘FPC’) for the individual countries where the Group has relevant
credit exposures. The CCyB rate for the UK increased from 0% to 1% in December 2022, leading
toa CCyBrate forthe Group of 0.982% as at 31December 2022, given the Group’s mix of country
credit exposures. The PRA may also impose a 'PRA buffer', which must be met fully with CEN
capital and which it requires to remain confidential, to cover forward-looking risks relating to
firm-specific stresses or management and governance weaknesses.

At all times through the year the Group maintained capital in excess of its minimum capital
requirements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

37. Capital Management (unaudited) (continued)

The Group’s regulatory capital position as at the year-end was as follows:

2022 2021
£'000 £'000
(unaudited) (unaudited)
Tier1Capital
Ordinary share capital 399,121 211,586
Otherreserves 6,522 5,464
Retainedreserves (161,979) (164,941)
Prudent valuation adjustment (93) (34)
Intangible assets (Mo,569) (12,331)
Deferred tax 13,19) -
119,883 39,744
Total Capital 119,883 39,744
2022 2021
£'000 £'000
(unaudited) (unaudited)
Credit risk 699,002 249,718
Counterparty credit risk 1,550 673
Operationalrisk 84,988 26,340
Credit valuation adjustment 4,618 3,482
RWA 790,158 280,213
CET1Ratio 15.2% 14.2%
Capital Ratio 15.2% 14.2%
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

38. Financial Instruments held at Fair Value

The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial
instruments by valuation technique:

Levell: Fair value determined using quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities;

Level 2; Fair value determined using other techniques for which inputs which have
significant effect on the recorded fair value are observable, either directly orindirectly; or

Level 3: Fair value determined using techniques which use inputs that have a significant
effect on the recorded fair value that are not based on observable market data

The below table provides an analysis of financial assets and liabilities held on the Statement of
Financial Position at fair value, categorised into levels 1to 3 based on the degree to which the fair
value is observable.

Levell Level 2 Level 3 Total
As at 31December 2022 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Financial assets
Debt securities 91,210 - - 91,210
Derivatives held for risk management - 29,592 - 29,592
Equity shares - 1,906 403 2,309
91,210 31,498 403 123,1M
Financial liabilities
Derivatives held for risk management - (809) - (809)
- (809) - (809)
Leveil Level 2 Level 3 Total
As at 31December 2021 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Financial assets
Debt securities 30,215 - - 30,215
Derivatives held for risk management - 2,358 - 2,358
Equity shares - 1,204 766 1,970
30,215 3,562 766 34,543
Financial liabilities
Derivatives held for risk management - 89) - (89)
- (89) - (89)
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

39. Discontinued Operations

In 2020 the Group began winding down its credit card portfolio. In 2021, the remaining portions of the credit
card portfolio were either sold, converted to other Tandem products or were written-off. During 2022 credit
cards contributed £ nil profit orloss (2021: losses of £1,391k).

in 2021, the Group sold a significant component of its unsecured personal loans originated via third parties.
During 2022 this portfolio contributed £ nil profit orloss (2021: profits of £134k).

40. Related Party and Controlling Party

On 24 January 2022, a majority shareholding in the Group was acquired by PSC Nominee 4 Limited. Prior to
this, a majority shareholding in the Group was held by PSC Plane (Guernsey) LP Incorporated. Both PSC
Nominee 4 Limited and PSC Plane (Guernsey) LP Incorporated are incorporated in Guernsey and are
investment vehicles of Pollen Street Capital Limited.

The largest company in which the results of the Group are consolidated is Tandem Money Limited. No other
Financial Statements include the results of the Group.

Transactions with Related Parties

The Company has taken advantage of the exemptions set out in FRS 102 Section 33.1A to not disclose
transactions with its subsidiaries that are wholly owned.

in 2021, the Group received IT platform services from SamePage Group Limited. During 2021, costs relating
to the year were recognised in the Income Statement within Administrative Expenses and totalled £311k .
Costs of £30k were recorded as additions to Work In Progress and costs of £58k were recorded as
additions to Computer Software within Intangible Assets as they related to the development of a loan
servicing system during the year. As at 31 December 2021 there was an outstanding payable of £52k within
Other Liabilities and an accrual of £19k within Accruals and Deferred Income relating to SamePage Group
Limited, which were to be settled in cash. The Group and SamePage Group Limited were related parties due
to being underthe common control of Pollen Street Capital Limited. SamePage Group Limited ceased tobe
arelated party on 10 November 2021.

In December 2020, the Group entered into an agreement whereby Oplo HL Ltd (name subsequently
changed to Tandem Home Loans Limited on 10 January 2023) would originate second charge mortgages for
the Group (beginning in 2021). As part of the agreement, the Group incurred servicing and performances
fees during 2021 which were recognised in the Income Statement within Fees and Commission Expenses
and totalled £155k. As at 31 December 2021, there was an outstanding payable of £40k relating to servicing
and performance fees within Accruals and Deferred Income. As at 31 December 202], there was an
outstanding receivable within Other Assets of £21k for repayments on loans originated through the forward
flow agreement which had yet to be remitted to the Group. All payables and receivables between the Group
and Oplo HL Ltd were settledin cash. The Group and Oplo HL Ltd were related parties due to being under the
common control of Pollen Street Capital Limited. On 24 January 2022 the Group purchased Oplo Holdings
Ltd (the parent of Oplo HL Ltd). Refer to Note 41for more details.

The Group received management consulting services from Pollen Street Capital. Costs incurred were
recognised in the Income Statement within Administrative Expenses and totalled £200k in 2022 (2021:
£159k). As at 31 December 2022, there was £200k outstanding payable relating to the management
consulting services within Accruals and Deferred Income (2021: £nil). The Group and PSC Service Company
are related parties due to being under the common control of Pollen Street Capital Limited.
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40. Related Party and Controlling Party (continued)

Transactions with Related Parties (continued)

During the year, the Group rented premises from Clear Property (NW) Limited. Costs relating to
the year were recognised in the Income Statement within Administrative Expenses and totalled
£12k. Allamounts due were settled in cash during the year. As at 31December 2022, there were no
outstanding balances payable. Clear Property (NW) Limited is a related party due to being
controlled by a member of Key Management Personnel.

During the year, the Group rented premises from TM Legal Services Limited. Costsrelating to the
yearwere recognised in the Income Statement within Administrative Expenses and totalled £37k.
All amounts due were settled in cash during the year. As at 31 December 2022, there were no
outstanding balances payable. TM Legal Services Limited was a related party due to being
controlled by a close family member of Key Management Personnel. TM Legal Services Limited
ceased to be arelated party from 28 April 2022.

During the year, the Group rented premises to Perch Group Limited. Income relating to the year
was recognised in the Income Statement within Administrative Expenses and totalled £28k. All
amounts due were settled in cash during the year. As at 31 December 2022, there were no
outstanding balances receivable. Perch Group Limited was a related party due to being
controlledby a close family member of Key Management Personnel. Perch Group Limited ceased
to be arelated party from 28 April 2022.

During the year, the Group sold unsecured loans to Perch Capital Limited. The sale price was
£312k, with the resulting gain of £138k recognised in the Income Statement within Gain/(Loss) on
Sale of Financial Assets. Allamounts due were settled in cash during the year. As at 31 December
2022, there were no outstanding balances receivable. Perch Capital Limited was a related party
due to being controlled by a close family member of Key Management Personnel. Perch Capital
Limited ceased to be arelated party from 28 April 2022,

During the year, the Group received customer administration services from FieldConnect
Limited. Costs relating to the year were recognised in the Income Statement within
Administrative Expenses and totalled £93k. All amounts due were settled in cash during the year.
As at 31December2022, there were no outstanding balances payable. FieldConnect Limited was
arelated party due to being controlled by a close family member of Key Management Personnel.
FieldConnect Limited ceased to be a related party from 28 April 2022.

During the year, the Group rented premises from the Mollart Family Pension Scheme. Costs
relating to the year were recognised in the Income Statement within Administrative Expenses and
totalled £84k. Allamounts due were settledin cash during the year. Asat 31December2022, there
were no outstanding balances payable. The Mollart Family Pension Scheme is a related party due
to a member of Key Management Personnel being a member of the scheme.
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for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

40. Related Party and Controlling Party (continued)

Transactions with Key Management Personnel

Key Management Personnel are defined as members of the Executive Committee, including
Directors for whom amounts have been separately disclosed in Notes 9 and 10.

2022 2021

Key Management Personnel £000 £000
Remuneration 3,473 2,841
Pension Contributions 52 96
3,525 2,937

During the year Key Management Personnel made investments of £70k in the Company (2021:
£150k).

Included in Customer Accounts as at 31 December 2022 is a balance of £633k deposited by
members of Key Management Personnel and their close family members (2021: £61k).

41. Business Combinations

On 24 January 2022, TML purchased the entire issued share capital and voting rights of Oplo
Holdings Ltd for £153,696k.

Oplo represented afast growing diversified consumer lender with business plans supporting the
transaction price indicative of a growing business beyond the explicit forecast. Management
have estimated the usefulllife of the goodwill to be 10 years.

The following table summarises consideration paid by the Group, the fair value of the assets
acquired and liabilities assumed on the acquisition date.

Consideration at 24 January 2022 £000
Cash consideration 122,273
Equity instruments (154.2m ordinary shares) 27,49
Direct attributable costs 3,932

153,696

For cashflow disclosure purposes the amounts are disclosed as follows

Cash consideration 122,273
Directly attributable costs 3,932
Less: Cash and cash equivalents acquired (15,226)
Net cash outfiow 10,979
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41. Business Combinations (continued)

Recognised amounts of identifiable assets Book values Adjustmentf Fair value
acquired and liabllities assumed £000 £000 £000
Cashand cash equivalents 15,226 - 15,226
Loans and advances to customers 408,222 - 408,222
Intangible assets 7,750 (4,516) 3,234
Tangible fixed assets 804 - 804
Other assets 8,925 - 8,925
Prepayments and accruedincome 2,738 - 2,738
Debt securitiesinissue (389,497) - (389,497)
Otherliabilities (66) - (66)
Accruals and deferred income (3,222) - (3,222)
Totalidentifiable net assets : 50,880 (4,516) 46,364
Goodwill ' 107,332
Total 153,696

*Management have identified technology and brand as intangible assets that require valuation
separate from goodwill. Included within the book value of intangible assets acquired was £5,133k
related to historic goodwill. The adjustment to remove the goodwill value from the acquired
intangibles has been offset by £326k fair value adjustment to technology acquired (to be
amortised over 3 years) and £290k for the fair value of the brand (to be amortised over 1 year).
Management have assessed the book values of all other assets and liabilities acquired and
deemed that they are representative of the fair value acquired.

42. Events Subsequent to the Reporting Date

Issuance of Share Capital

On 18 January 2023, PSC Nominee 4 Limited, an existing TML shareholder, subscribed for
140,724,370 Ordinary B shares of £0.002 eachin TML for cash consideration of £24,960k.

Asset Acquisition

On 3 April 2023, TML acquired the business assets of PDP2021 Limited (a business trading as
‘Loop’ and ‘Loop Money') by way of an asset acquisition. Consideration for the acquisition
comprised of cash and share consideration. The fair value of the assets acquired cannot currently
be determined. PDP202]1Limitedis arelated party asits personwith significant controlis the Chair
of the Group. '
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